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[Sample of the letters sent individually to the members of the Judicial Conference]  

  August 1, 2005 

Mr. Chief Justice William Rehnquist 

Member of the Judicial Conference of the U.S. 

Supreme Court of the United States 

1 First Street, N.E 

Washington, D.C. 20543 
 

 

Dear Mr. Chief Justice, 

I would like to bring to your attention the petition that I just submitted to the Conference 

for an investigation under 28 U.S.C. §753(c) of a court reporter’s refusal to certify the reliability 

of her transcript, which is yet another in a long series of acts of disregard for duty and legality 

stretching over more than three years and pointing to a bankruptcy fraud scheme and a cover up. 

Indeed, last March 1 the evidentiary hearing took place of the motion to disallow my 

claim in the bankruptcy case of David and Mary Ann DeLano. Bankruptcy Judge John C. Ninfo, II, 

WBNY, disallowed my claim against Mr. DeLano. Oddly enough, he is a 32-year veteran of the 

banking industry now specializing in bankruptcies at M&T Bank, who declared having only $535 in 

cash and account when filing for bankruptcy in January 2004, but earned in the 2001-03 period 

$291,470, whose whereabouts neither the Judge nor the trustees want to request that he account for.  

At the end of the hearing, I asked Reporter Mary Dianetti to count and write down the numbers 

of stenographic packs and folds that she had used, which she did. For my appeal from the disallow-

ance and as part of making arrangements for her transcript, I requested her to estimate its cost and 

state the numbers of packs and folds that she would use to produce it. As shown in exhibits pgs. 

E:1-11, she provided the estimate but on three occasions expressly declined to state those numbers. 

Her repeated failure to state numbers that she necessarily had counted and used to calculate her 

estimate was quite suspicious. So I requested that she agree to certify that the transcript would be 

complete and accurate, distributed only to the clerk and me, and free of tampering influence. 

However, she asked me to prepay and explicitly rejected my request! If a reporter in your court 

refused to vouch for the reliability of her transcript, would you vouch for it in her stead and use it 

without hesitation? Would you want your rights and obligations decided on such a transcript? 

Moreover, there is evidence, contained in the other exhibits submitted to the Conference and 

available on demand (pg. 21), that Reporter Dianetti is not acting alone. Bankruptcy clerks and Dis-

trict Judge David G. Larimer, WDNY, also violated FRBkrP 8007 to deprive me of the transcript 

and, worse still, did the same in connection with the transcript in Pfuntner v. Trustee Gordon et al., 

where Mr. DeLano, who handled its bankruptcy for M&T, and I are parties. Their motives are 

discussed in the accompanying copy of the petition and in my submissions to the Conference and 

its members of November 18 and December 18, 2004. The facts stated therein show a pattern of 

non-coincidental, intentional, and coordinated bias and wrongdoing in support of a bankruptcy fraud 

scheme. It suffices for those facts to have the appearance of truth for these officers’ conduct to 

undermine the integrity of the judicial process and detract from public trust in the judiciary. Hence, 

I respectfully request that you cause this matter to be placed on the agenda of the September 

meeting of the Conference and that meantime, you make a report of it to U.S. Attorney General 

Alberto Gonzales under 18 U.S.C. §3057(a). Looking forward to hearing from you, 

sincerely, 
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Chief Judge Carolyn Dineen King 

Member of the Judicial Conference of the U.S. 
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August 6, 2005 

Chief Judge Carolyn Dineen King 

Chair of the Executive Committee of the Judicial Conference 

U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit 

600 Camp Street 

New Orleans, LA 70130 
 

 

Dear Chief Judge King, 

On 1 instant, I sent you, as member of the Judicial Conference, a cover letter together 

with a copy of my petition of July 28 to the Judicial Conference for an investigation under 28 

U.S.C. §753(c) of a court reporter’s refusal to certify the reliability of her transcript and for 

designation under 28 U.S.C. §753(b) of another individual to produce the transcript. I had 

submitted the petition to the Conference by mailing 5 copies, each with all the exhibits, to the 

Administrative Office of the United States Courts. 

On August 3, I called the Administrative Office to confirm its receipt of the petition. Mr. 

Robert P. Deyling, Esq., Assistant General Counsel, acknowledged it, but again stated that he 

will not forward it to the Conference because the latter cannot intervene and I do not have a right to 

petition it. He disregarded my argument that the Conference is a governmental administrative body 

that under §753(c) has a duty to act on this matter and that I have a First Amendment right “to petition 

the Government for a redress of grievances”. That constitutional right is devoid of any meaning if 

the government systematically disregards every petition submitted to it. The correlative of that 

right is the obligation on the part of the government to respond to a petition; however, Mr. 

Deyling said that I would not receive even a reply letter. Likewise, the statutory obligation would 

be rendered meaningless if the Conference could at will disregard its mandate: 

§753 (c) The reporters shall be subject to the supervision of the 
appointing court and the Judicial Conference in the performance of 
their duties, including dealings with parties requesting transcripts. 

This is not the first time that Mr. Deyling prevents a petition of mine from reaching the 

Conference. Indeed, on November 18, 2004, I petitioned the Conference to review the denials by 

the Judicial Council of the Second Circuit of my petitions for review of my two judicial 

misconduct complaints. However, after failing even to acknowledge receipt of that petition and 

only at my instigation, Mr. Deyling sent me a letter on December 9, whereby he blocked it from 

reaching the Conference by alleging that the latter had no jurisdiction to entertain it. The 

Conference, of course, was never given the opportunity to pass on that jurisdictional issue that I 

had explicitly discussed, a novel one that it had never decided in any of its 15 decision since the 

enactment of the Judicial Conduct Act of 1980. It is troubling that the Conference allows a 

person acting in the capacity of a clerk of court, such as Mr. Deyling, to insulate it from even 

having to take a look at a citizen’s petition. It is all the more troubling when by such expedient 

the Conference does not even bother to determine the scope of its own obligations under law.  

Therefore, I also respectfully request that you, as chair of the Executive Committee, 

retrieve the five copies of my petition now in possession of Mr. Deyling, and submit the petition 

to the Conference. I would be indebted to you if you would let me know your course of action.  

Sincerely, 
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Judicial Conference of the United States 
 

 

PETITION for an Investigation under 28 U.S.C. §753(c) of a Court Reporter’s 

Refusal to Certify the Reliability of her Transcript and 

for Designation under 28 U.S.C. §753(b) of Another Individual 

to Produce the Transcript 

 
 

Dr. Richard Cordero, Petitioner  
 

Creditor in David and Mary Ann DeLano, no. 04-20280, WBNY 
 

and  Appellant in Cordero v. DeLano, no. 05-cv-6190L, WDNY 
 
 
Dr. Richard Cordero states under penalty of perjury the following: 

1. Dr. Richard Cordero petitions the Judicial C onference under 28 U.S.C. § 753(c) (¶20 below) for 

an investigation of the reasons and circum stances why Court Reporter Mary Dianetti has refused 

to certif y the reliability of  her transcr ipt of the evidentiary hearing that sh e recorded  

stenographically on March 1, 2005, called by Bankruptcy Judge John C. Ninfo, II, WBNY, to hear 

the m otion raised by D avid and Mary Ann DeL ano, debtors, to disallow Dr. Cordero’s claim 

against Mr. DeLano. Judge Ninfo’s Decision and Order of April 4, 2005, disallowing that claim is 

the subje ct of the a bove-captioned appeal be fore District J udge David G. Lari mer, W DNY, for 

which t he tr anscript i s i ndispensable. H ence, .the Conference is petitioned under §753(b) to 

designate another individual to produce a reliable transcript. 
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I. Reporter Dianetti avoided stating on three occasions the count of 

the stenographic packs and folds that she had counted to arrive 
at her transcript cost estimate; Dr. Cordero requested 
confirmation that her reluctance was not motivated by her 
concerns about the transcript’s content; but the Reporter 
requested prepayment while refusing to certify that the transcript 
would be complete and accurate, distributed only to the clerk 
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A. The Judicial Conference’s duty to supervise court reporters and their 
handling of transcripts and deal with parties requesting transcripts ...................1088 
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Dates of Letters Exchanged Between Exhibit Page E:#  

 Dr. Cordero Court Reporter Dianetti 

1.  April 18, 2005  1 [C:1155] 

2.   May 3 2 [C:1156] 

3.  May 10  3 [C:1157] 

4.   May 19 4 [C:1158] 

5.  May 26  6 [C:1160] 

6.   June 13 7 [C:1161] 

7.  June 25  9 [C:1163] 

8.   July 1 11 [C:1165] 

 

***************************** 

I. Reporter Dianetti avoided stating on three occasions the count 
of the stenographic packs and folds that she had counted to 
arrive at her transcript cost estimate; Dr. Cordero requested 
confirmation that her reluctance was not motivated by her 
concerns about the transcript’s content; but the Reporter 
requested prepayment while refusing to certify that the 
transcript would be complete and accurate, distributed only to 
the clerk and Dr. Cordero, and free of tampering influence 
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2. At the end of the evid entiary hearing on Marc h 1, 2005, which las ted from 1:31 p.m . till 7 :00 

p.m., Dr. Cordero  approached Rep orter Dianet ti while she was still at  her seat and Court 

Attendant Larraine Parkhurst was by her side. He asked the Reporter how m any packs and folds 

of stenographic paper she had used. That question spun Reporter Dianetti into a profound state of 

confusion and nervousness, all th e more astonishing since she wa s only gathering the m aterials 

that she had just finished usin g to record the single hearing th at afternoon. (Exhibits page 207, 

section B, infra=E:207B) The Reporter and Attend ant Parkhurst counted the packs and folds and 

both wrote down the num bers (E:2 03); but on that occasion, the Re porter did not provide an 

estimate of the cost of the transcript. 

3. Over a m onth and a half later, contem poraneously with des ignating the items in the record f or 

the appeal from the decision resulting from that evidentiary hearing, Dr. Cordero requested in his 

letter of  April 18 to Re porter Dian etti (E:1) th at she provide a cost es timate and indicate the 

number of stenographic packs and folds “that you will be using to prepare the transcript”. In so doing, 

Dr. Cordero was simply exercising his right under 28 U.S.C. §753(b), providing that: 

§753(b) [last paragraph] The original notes or other original records and the copy 
of the transcript in the of fice of the clerk shall be open during office hours 
to inspection by any person without charge. 

4. Since Dr. Cordero lives in New Yor k City, hundreds of miles away from the bankruptcy clerk’s  

office in Rochester, NY, and since he, by contrast, would be charged for ordering the transcript, it is 

only reasonable that he would want  to have the closest equivalent to an inspection in person of 

the original records by asking the C ourt Reporter to  describe what she w ould transcribe at hi s 

expense. This sort of “dealings with parties requesting transcripts” must fall precisely within the scope 

of §753(c). Hence, Dr. Cordero simply asked for information that he was legally entitled to obtain. 

5. In her answer of May 3 (E:2), Reporter Dianetti failed to provide any count of packs and folds of steno-

graphic paper because it “was given  to you  after the hearing was completed”. Yet, she m ust have 

counted them since she provided “the estimated cost…of $600 to $650 ”. But she added the caveat 

“Please understand this i s an estimate only.” Thereby she underm ined the re liability of what in the  

normal course of business would have been deemed the lower and upper limits of the estimate.  

6. Hence, in his letter to her of May 10 (E:3), he asked that she state by how much m ore her 

estimate could fluctuate and added  “This makes it all the mo re necessary that you state how many 

packs of stenographic paper and how many folds in each pack constitute the whole of your recording.” 
7. In her letter of May 19 (E:4), Repor ter Dianetti surprisingly stated that “I am unabl e to state ho w 

much my e stimate can flu ctuate, if it fluctuate s at all, unless I prepare the entire transcript prior to you r 
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ordering it.” Her statement was self-contradictory because if her estimate may not fluctuate “at all”, 

then how could she provide an initial estimate with lower and upper lim its, which by definition 

mark the margins of fluctuation? What would determine whether the final “cost…of $600 to $650” 

was $600, $650, anywhere in between, or even outside that range?  Since Reporter Dianetti is an 

official reporter, who earns her living as suc h, who would prepare the transcript based on her 

own recording of a proceeding, an d who had provi ded an  estim ate th at already fluctuated b y 

almost 10%, how could she not have an idea of by “how much my estimate can fluctuate”? After all, 

how m any variables can possibly a ffect the final num ber of transcript pages?  Is one of the m 

censure by somebody else with indisputable authority? 

8. Making her estim ate even m ore incomprehensible, Reporter Dianetti again failed to provide in 

that letter of May 19 the count of  stenographic packs and folds that  she would use to prepare the  

transcript because “you already have that information” (E:4). Did she have it too?; if so, why not just 

restate it in a straightforward business fashion? Moreover, there was som ething very odd to her  

failure to appreciate the difference between the count of packs and folds that she had written 

down for Dr. Cordero  on March  1 and what she had recen tly counted  and would actually “be 

using to prepare the transcript”, as Dr. Cordero had asked in his first letter of April 18 (E:1). 

9. Thus, in his letter to her of May 26 (E:6), Dr. Cordero pointed out that: 

If you cannot state those limits, the final amount can be anywhere above or 

below that fork [of $600 to $650]. In practical terms this means that there is 

no esti mate at all. Consequently, I am l eft t o a ssume all t he risk an d b e 

liable for whatever final price you bill me for. I hope you will agree that does 

not sound either fair to me or an acceptable business arrangement. 

10. In her response of June 13 (E:7), Reporter Dian etti agreed to an upper limit of $650 and stated a 

cost per page of $3.30. This im plied that for a m eeting that lasted 5.5 hours, she had estim ated a 

maximum of 197 pages. However, she added the astonishing statement that: 

Also, I am listing the n umber of stenographic packs and t he number of 

folds in ea ch pack and this is the same information  that was given to  

you on the afternoon of the hearing  as I had marked each pack with th e 

number of f olds within your vie w a nd am just giving you those exact 
numbers at this time. (emphasis added) 

11. How astonishing indeed,  for Reporter Dianetti was em phatically avoiding any statem ent of th e 

numbers of packs and f olds that she would actually u se to  prepare the transcript! Why and to 

what extent would those numbers differ from the numbers of packs and folds that she had used to 
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record the March 1 evidentiary hearing? Moreover, if she did not even have to count the packs and 

folds to arr ive at her e stimate of the transcript cost, why would she on her May 3 and 1 9 letters 

not simply restate “the same information…[with which] I had marked each pack”, thus nipping in the bud 

any suspicion? Dr. Cordero pointed this out unambiguously in his letter to her of June 25 (E:9): 

Instead, I made what I meant you to state quite clear in my latest letter to you 
of May 26: 

[since] you necessarily had to c ount the numb er of stenographic packs 
and their folds to calcu late the number of transcript pages and estimate  
the cost of the transcript…provide me with that count…Therefore… 

2. state the number of stenographic packs and the number of folds in  
each that comprise the whole recording of the evidentiary hearing and 
that will be translated into the transcript. (emphasis added) 

12. The fact is that Reporter Dianet ti recorded the evidentiary h earing on a stenographic m achine, 

presumably the sam e that she uses for record ing every other bankrupt cy proceeding, using the 

same type of stenographic paper, whose folds were pulled in and filled with reco rding content at 

the same rate, so that the same amount of content would fill transcription pages at the same rate.  

13. Unquestionably, the very aim  of a  stenograph ic recording of a proceeding is to  record it 

“verbatim” (§753(b), ¶59 below) so that  two stenographers, or for th at m atter, any num ber of 

stenographers possessing the same “qualifications…determined by standards formulated by the Judicial 

Conference” (§753(a)), and recordin g the sam e proceed ing on the sam e type of equipm ent and 

paper should end up producing a transcription with the sam e content having the sam e length. 

That is  a lo gical and p ractical imperative of the system of reporting co urt proceedings. As the 

Supreme Court put it, ‘the §753(b) duty to produce verbatim  transcripts affords no discretion in 

carrying out this duty to reporters, who are to record, as accurately as possible, what transpires in 

court’, Antoine v Byers & Anderson, 508 US 429, 124 L Ed 2d 391, 113 S Ct 2167 (1993).  

14. Since her refusal m ade no sense from  either a bu siness or technical point of view, why was she 

so evasive about stating the num ber of packs and folds that “will be translated into the transcript”? 

Was she concerned about how m uch content of the evid entiary hea ring recording would be 

allowed to make it into the transcript, which would determine its number of pages, which would in 

turn reveal the number of packs and folds from which the transcript was produced? If so, her con-

cern cast in issue the transcript’s reliability as well as the integrity of the court reporting process.  

15. Hence, Dr. Cordero asked her in his letter of June 25 (E:10) to agree to: 

…provide a transcrip t t hat is an a ccurate and  complete written representation , 

with neither additions, deletions, omissions, nor other modifications, of the oral 

exchanges among the litigants, the witness, the judicial off icers, and any othe r 
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third parties that spoke at the DeLano evidentiary hearing… 

…simultaneously file one paper copy with the clerk of the b ankruptcy court and  

mail to [Dr.  Cordero] a paper copy together with an electronic copy…and not  

make available any copy in any format to any other party…[and] 

…truthfully state in your certificate [that] you h ave not discussed with any other 

party (aside from me)…the content…of your stenographic recording  of the  

DeLano evidentiary hearing or of the transcript …[otherwise] you will state their  

names, the circumstances and cont ent of such discussions or attempt at such 

discussions, and their impact on the preparation of the transcript. 

16. In her July 1 letter (E:11)  the Reporter required that Dr. Cordero prepay by “a money order or certified 

check in the amount of $650.00 payable to “Mary Dianetti””, made no provision for the final cost coming 

out, once she applied her own $3.30/page r ate, at  her own lower estim ate of  $600 or even lower 

because, as she had put it in her May 3 letter (E:2), “Please understand this is an estimate only”, and then 

added without offering any explanation: “The balance of your letter of June 25, 2005 is rejected.”  

17. How co me “rejected”?! It m ust be quite obvious that Re porter Dianetti has no justification to 

refuse to ag ree that her transcript will be  accurate and complete, not distributed to others (aside 

from the clerk) yet paid for by Dr. Cordero, an d not subject to anybody’s tam pering influence. 

Who in his right mind would pay $650 up front for a product that he has already been given evi-

dence will be defective and unsuitable for the intended purpose? Would you want your rights and 

obligations determined on a transcript for whose reliability the reporter herself will not vouch? 

A. The Judicial Conference’s duty to supervise court reporters and their 
handling of transcripts and deal with parties requesting transcripts  

18. This matter should be of importance to the Conference in light of its duty under 28 U.S.C. §331:  
…as to any matters in respect of which the administration of justice in the 

courts of the United St ates may b e improved.  [To that end, the] Confer-

ence shall also carry on a continuous study of th e operation and effect of 

the general rules of practice and  procedure…to promot e…fairness in  

administration [and] the just determination of litigation… 

19. It would be reasonab le to expect the Conference to  consider that the re was substantial room  for 

improvement if it were to find out that the Ba nkruptcy Cour t a nd t he Di strict Cour t, WDN Y, 

deemed Reporter Dianetti’s conduct t o be customary and acceptable for their reporters in general . 

But if the Conference found out th at the Reporter underm ined her tr anscript’s reliability on the 

advice or order of other officers as part of thei r handling of Dr. Cordero’ s cases in particular, 

would that make it fair and just or, on the contrary, suspicious and requiring closer examination? 
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20. To find out whether it is one or  the other scenario, 28 U.S.C.  §753(c) provides the Conference 

with more particular authority as well as the duty to investigate Reporter Dianetti’s perform ance 

in general and her refusal to give assurance about the reliability of this transcript in particular: 

(c) The reporters shall be subject to t he supervision of the appointin g 
court and t he Judicial Conference in the  perf ormance of their dut ies, 
including dealings with parties requesting transcripts. 

21. The incentive for the Conference to conduct a “study of the operation” of those WDNY courts and 

of Reporter Dianetti’s “performance of [her] duties” should be all the stronger because this is not the first 

time that she together with other officers in those courts have violated “the general rules of practice 

and procedure” in connection with a transcript requested by Dr. Cordero for appeal purposes. 

II. Reporter Dianetti already tried on a previous occasion to avoid 
submitting a transcript and submitted it only over two and half 
months later and only after Dr. Cordero repeatedly requested it 

22. In Septem ber 2002, Pfuntner v. Trustee Gordon et al, docket no. 02-2230, WBNY, was  

commenced and therein Dr. Cordero was named a defendant. He cross-claimed against Chapter 7 

Trustee Kenneth Gordon for having negligently and recklessly performed his duties as trustee to 

the detriment of Dr. Cordero and for m aking defamatory statements against him to Judge Ninfo 

so as to in duce the Ju dge not to cause an in vestigation of  the Trust ee, as Dr. Cordero had 

requested. (E:134¶¶6-11) Trustee Gordon m oved to dism iss and his m otion was heard on 

December 18, 2002, with Dr. Cordero appearin g pro se by  phone. Judge Ninfo dism issed the 

cross-claims summarily at th e hearing despite the genuine issues of m aterial fact raised by  Dr.  

Cordero (E:135§§1-3) and even though discovery ha d not started on any aspe ct of the case, not 

even disclosure pursuant to FRBkrP 7026 and F RCivP 26(a)(1) had been provided by any party 

other than Dr. Cordero (E:150¶75) although the cas e had been comm enced three months earlier 

(E:152¶80). At the end of the hearing, Dr. Cordero stated that he would appeal. 

23. Interestingly enough, according to PACER, https://ecf.nywb.uscourts.gov/, between April 12, 2000, 

and June 26, 2004, Trustee Gordon appeared as trustee in 3,383 cases, in 3,382 out of which he 

did so before Judge Ninfo! By contrast, Dr. Cordero was a non-local l itigant living hundreds of 

miles away in New Yor k City and appearing in  one case. Had Judge Ninfo developed a m odus 

operandi with a trustee who had becom e a fixture li tigant in his court s o that to pro tect Trustee 

Gordon and their modus operandi the Judge got rid of what he coul d only deem to be one of the 

weakest of defendants, a one-time non-local pro se on the phone?  

24. That question is warranted  by the series of acts of disr egard for the law, the rules, and the f acts 
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engaged in by Judge Ninfo (E:140§§2-4; 62A) , Di strict J udge La rimer ( E:142C; ¶36 be low), 

clerks (E :92§II; 139B-§B1), trustees (E:134 ¶¶6-11; 36§V), and part ies (E:145D; 68B-71§1) 

since even before Pfuntner was commenced in 2002. Their consistent conduct points to system ic 

disregard for duty and legality am ong a group of pe ople in daily contact in a small federal build-

ing, growing closely-knit  by their related functions and the use of their power to do, not the right  

thing, but ra ther the good thing for their common interest be cause each member can count  on all  

the others for sim ilar supportive disregard, to the detr iment of non-members (E:151§§1-6; ¶42 below) 

and the integrity of the system (E:117C-E). What follows is an instance of such clique in action. 

25. After Judge Ninfo’s order of December 30, 2002, di smissing the cross-claim s against Trustee 

Gordon was sent from Rochester and delivered in New York City, Dr. Cordero phoned Reporter 

Dianetti at (585)586-6392 on Janu ary 8, 2003, to request a tran script of the Decem ber 18 

hearing. After checking her stenographic packs and folds, she called back and told him that there 

could be som e 27 pages and take 10 days to be  ready. Dr. Cordero agreed and requested the 

transcript. Yet, weeks went by without his hearing from  her. He had to call her and the  

Bankruptcy Court on several occas ions to ask  why he had  not receiv ed the trans cript, but he 

could only either record messages on her answering machine or leave them for her with a clerk. 

26. It was not until M arch 10, 2003, after Dr. Cordero called Reporter Dianetti and  was alread y 

recording another message, that she, screening the call, finally picked up the phone. After giving 

an untenab le excuse, sh e said that she would ha ve the 15 pages ready for…“You said th at it 

would be around 27?!” She gave an other untenable excuse and prom ised to have everything in 

two days ‘and you want it from  the moment you came in on the phone.’ What an extraordinary 

comment! It im plied that there had been an exchange between the court and Trustee Gordon 

before Dr. Cordero had been put on speakerphone a nd that she was not supposed to include it in 

the transcript, so she wanted to obtain his tacit consent for her to le ave it out. Dr. Cordero told 

her that he wanted everything and that her statem ent gave hi m th e im pression tha t o ther 

exchanges had taken place between the Judge a nd Trustee Gordon before and after he, Dr. 

Cordero, was on the phone. She said that she ha d to look up her notes and put Dr. Cordero on 

hold. When she cam e back, she asked him  whether he wanted everything from  the mom ent the 

Judge had said ‘Good morning, Dr. Cordero.’ He sa id no, that he wanted everything from  the  

moment the Judge m ust have said ‘Good m orning, Mr. Gordon.” She again put Dr. Cordero on 

hold to loo k up the c alendar. She said th at before his hearing began, there had been an 

evidentiary hearing. He asked her the name of the parties, but she said that she would have to 

look up the calendar. She said that Dr. Cordero’s hearing had begun at 9:30 a.m.  
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27. As attested to by her ce rtificate, Reporter Dianetti did complete th e transcript in th e next two 

days, on March 12, 2003. This shows how inexcusabl e it was for her to dela y doing so for m ore 

than two m onths after Dr. Corder o first contacted her on  January 8 t o have her produce the trans-

cript. However, there is evidence that she did no t deliver i t directly to  him. Indeed, although the 

date on her certificate is March 12, the transcript was not mailed to him until March 26, precisely 

the day of the hearing at 9:30 a.m . of Dr. Cord ero’s motion for relief from  Judge Ninfo’s denial 

of his m otion to extend tim e to file the notice of a ppeal (E:136§3) f rom the dism issal of his 

cross-claims against Trustee Gordon. In fact, the transcript was not entered in docket no. 02-

2230 until March 26. It is notewort hy that after Dr. Cordero m ade a statement at that hearing, 

Judge Ninfo said that he had not  heard anything different from  his m oving papers, denied the 

motion, and cut off abruptly the telephone connection through which Dr. Cordero was appearing. 

The transcript was then mailed and i t reached Dr. Cordero on March 28. This reasonably suggests 

that it was unlawfully withheld fro m him until th e Judge could learn what he had to say at the 

hearing. Was Reporter Dianetti told to submit her transcript to a higher-up court officer so that its 

contents could be vetted in light of that hearing before a final version would be sent to Dr. Cordero? 

28. The transcript turned out to consist, not of 27 pages as Reporter Dianetti had estimated after con-

sulting her notes on January 8, but only of 15 pages of transcription! She claim ed that because 

Dr. Cordero was on speakerphone, she had difficulty understanding what he said. Her transcripti on 

of his statements has many “unintelligible” notes marking missing passages so that it is dif ficult to 

make out what he said. If she or  the court speakerphone regularly garbled what the person on speaker-

phone said, it is hard to im agine that either w ould last long in their respective functions. These 

facts warrant asking wh ether she was told to disr egard his request for th e transcript; and when 

she could no longer do so, to garble his statements. Has she been told the same in other cases? 

29. Was Reporter Dianetti also told and, if so, by w hom, to leave out the exchanges between Judge 

Ninfo and Trustee Gordon before  Dr. Cordero was put on speak erphone or after the Judge 

terminated the phone communicatio n at the hearing on December 18, 2002?  The foundation for 

this question is not only her comme nt so implying. In fact, on many occasions since then (E:225), 

Judge Ninfo has cut off abruptly the phone line to Dr. Cordero, in contravention of the norm s of 

civility. It is most unlikely that without announcing that the hearing or meeting was adjourned or 

striking his gavel, but simply by pressing th e speakerphone button to hang up uncerem oniously 

on Dr. Cordero, Judge Ninfo brought thereby the h earing or m eeting to its conclusion and the 

parties in the room just turned on their heels and left without uttering another word.  
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A. Reporter Dianetti and other officers have disregarded the law and rules by 
their way of dealing with Dr. Cordero at hearings & his transcript request 

30. It is more l ikely that on the subject of the hearing or meeting Judge Ninfo spoke with the other 

parties in Dr. Corder o’s absence , thereby enga ging in e x parte commun ications with them 

“concerning matters affecting a particular case o r proceeding” in violation of FRBkrP 9003. (cf. 

E:119D) Likewise, by so abruptly cutting off a phone connection, the Judge gave any reasonable  

person at the opposite end of the phone line cause for offense and the appearance of ani mosity 

and unfairness. Moreover, by so doing, the Judge, whether by design or in effect, prevented Dr. 

Cordero from bringing up a ny further subjects, even subjects that he had explicitly stated earlie r 

in the hearing that he wanted to discuss; and denied him the opportunity to raise objections for  

the record. Of graver significance in legal terms is that  by Judge Ninfo term inating a proceeding 

without giving notice thereof to a pa rty he violated his duty to affo rd all parties to a hearing the 

same opportunity to be heard and hear the judge and the other parties. Thus, Judge Ninfo showed 

incivility an d partiality,  disreg arded the ru le prohibiting ex parte co mmunications, and denied 

Dr. Cordero due process of law as required under the 5th Amendment. 

31. As to Reporter Dianetti, by not de livering her transcript prom ptly and directly to Dr. Cordero 

upon completing it on March 12, 2003, she violated §753(b) which provides that: 

28 U.S.C. §753(b)…Up on the requ est of any party to the proceeding  which ha s 
been so recorded…the reporter…shall promptly transcribe the origina l 
records…and attach  to the transcr ipt his official certif icate, and deliver the  
same to the party…making the request. (emphasis added) 

32. The Reporter also violated FRBkrP 8007(a), providing thus: 

FRBkrP 8007.  (a) Duty of reporter to prepare and file transcript. On receipt of a 

request for  a transcr ipt, the reporte r shall ackn owledge on  the request the 

date it was received and the date on  which the reporter exp ects to have the 

transcript completed and shall tra nsmit the request, so endorsed, t o the  

clerk or  the  clerk of th e bankruptcy appellate panel. On completion o f the  

transcript the reporter shall file it wit h the clerk and, if appropriate, notify the  

clerk of the bankruptcy appellate panel. If the transcript cannot be completed 

within 30 days of receipt of the requ est the reporter shall seek an extension 

of time from the clerk or  the clerk of  the bankruptcy appellate panel and the 

action of the clerk shall be entered  in the docket and the p arties notified. If 

the reporter does not file the transcript within th e time allowed, the cler k or 

the clerk of the bankruptcy appellate panel shall notify the bankruptcy judge. 
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33. If she could not have the transcript “completed within 30 days of receipt of the request”, let alone the 

10 days that she had said it would take her to tr anscribe the m ere 27 pages that she herself had 

estimated, why did she not com ply with her ob ligation that “the reporter shall seek an extension of 

time from the clerk”? If she did, why did the clerk in turn fail to comply with his obliga-tion that “the 

action of the clerk shall be entered in the docket and the parties notified”? In either event, Dr. Cordero 

was left without either the transcript or notice.  Hence, either the Repor ter or the clerk, or both 

violated the duty to proceed tim ely, prom ptly, and with n otice. Dis charging with  prom ptness 

transcript-related duties is so important that the FRBkrP restate that obligation thus:  

FRBkrP 5007. Record of Proceedings and Transcripts  
(a) Filing of record or transcript.  

The reporter or operator of a recording device shall certify the original 

notes of testimony, ta pe recordin g, or other original re cord of the 

proceeding and promptly file them with the cler k. The person preparing  

any transcript shall promptly file a certified copy. (emphasis added) 

34. By so dealing with that transc ript, Reporter Dianetti also violated §753(a),  which provides t hat 

“…Each reporter sha ll take an oath fa ithfully to  per form the duties of his  o ffice.…” However, her conduct 

takes on sinister sign ificance because her violations in  2003 occurred in the context of  Pfuntner, 

the case that contains Dr. Cordero’s claim  against Mr. DeLano (E:23 fn.1) and that Judge Ninfo 

linked to DeLano in hi s decision on appeal of April 4, 2005 (E:46§I, 51§I V. Ther efore, it is 

reasonable to ask whether her ref usal to certif y the reliability of  the transcript in DeLano is also 

linked to he r mishandling of t he transcript in Pfuntner; if  so, with whom is  she coordinating he r 

conduct?; and why is it i mportant thereby to influence adversely Dr. Cordero’s appeals? (E:157F) 

What is the benefit gained or harm avoided by those engaged in such unlawful conduct? 

35. Indeed, there is no reason to think that Repor ter Dianetti wa s ‘faithfully perform ing her duties’ 

until Dr. Cordero just  happened to drop in . This warrants asking whether in other cases she h as in 

coordination with other officers m anipulated transc ripts to alte r their c ontents o r even preven t 

their receipt. Hence, her conduct is evidence of that broader, system ic disregard for duty and 

legality where manipulation of transcripts is only part of a larger scheme. (E:92§II; 158§1) These 

queries need to be investigated because such disregard by her and others not only denies due 

process to individuals, but also undermines the integrity of the administration of justice. That has 

grave implications for the qua lity or seriousness of the §331 “continuous study” carried on by the 

Judicial Conference, for there is evid ence that disregard for duty and leg ality reaches higher in 

the judicial hierarchy than the Bankruptcy Court. Did the Conference not know about it? 
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III. The Clerk of the Bankruptcy Court disregarded the rules by trans-
mitting the record to the District Court when it could not 
possibly be complete; yet District Judge Larimer disregarded 
the rules and repeatedly scheduled the appellate brief for a date 
before Dr. Cordero would receive and use the transcript to write it 

36. The evidence points to Reporter Dianetti not ha ving acted alone. Just as Bankruptcy Court Clerk 

Paul Warren disregarded the rules o n that occa sion (¶33 above; cf. E:139B -§B1), he has in th e 

instant case, likewise with detrimental effect on any use by Dr. Cordero of the transcript. So Dr. 

Cordero sent pursuant to FRBkrP 8006 his Designation of Items in the Record to the Bankruptcy 

Court. Clerk Karen Tacy filed it on April 21, 2005, and on that very sam e day –after strange 

hesitation, o r was it co nsultation? (E:188 entr ies 108 and 109)- trans mitted the record to the  

District Court.  

37. However, FRBkrP 8007(b) provides that “When the record is complete for purposes of appeal, the clerk 

shall transmit a copy thereof  forthwith to the clerk of the district court.”  It is obvious that the record could 

not possibly have be en complete on the very day in which it was f iled since the 10 days provided 

under FRBkrP 8006 for “the appellee [to file and serve] a designation of additional items to be included in 

the record on appeal”  had not even star ted to run. ( E:165) Moreover, contact with Reporter Dianetti 

for production of the transcript had only been in itiated, as shown by the copy of  Dr. Cordero’s 

letter of Apr il 18 to her ( E:1) accompanying his desi gnation. So when wri ting his appellant brief, 

he would hardly be able to take  into consideration either the transcript or appellee’s designation, 

submitted only on May 3 (E:229 entry 5) and delivered in NYC on May 10. 

38. Nevertheless, District Judge Larimer issued  a scheduling order on April 22, the day after 

receiving the record, providing that “Appellant shall file and serve its brief within 20 days after entry of 

this o rder on the d ocket”. (E:167) Since the record containe d a copy of Dr. Cordero’s April 18 

letter to Reporter Dianetti, the Judge too must have known that the Reporter had hardly received 

it and that no arrangem ent could have been ag reed upon for the production of the transcript. In 

any event, FRBkrP 8007(a) (¶ 32 above) would allow the Reporte r 30 days to com plete the 

transcript and if she had not done so by that time,  she could ask for an extension. Therefore, to 

require the filing of his appellat e brief within 20 days would in effect prevent Dr. Cordero from 

receiving, let alone us ing, the transcript in writing the brief or even making it pa rt of the record 

and thereby available in any subsequent appeal to the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court. 

39. On a phone conversation that Dr. Cordero had with Bankruptcy Clerk of Court Warren on May 2 

concerning the prem ature transmittal of the reco rd in d isregard of FRBkrP 8007(b), the Clerk  
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defended the transmittal and refused to withd raw the record. So on tha t date, Dr. C ordero faxed 

to the District Court his objection to its scheduling order and requested that Judge Larimer rescind 

it. (E:169) He pointed out that the “premature…acts [of both courts] have forced Dr. Cordero to devote 

time and effort to research and writing to comply with the deadline for submitting his brief while waiting on 

the Bankruptcy Court to acknowledge its mistake and withdraw the record”. 
40. Disregarding the violation of the rules and that concrete detriment, Judge Larimer did not rescind 

his scheduling order. Instead, on May 3 he issued another order requiring Dr. Corde ro to file his 

appellate brief by June 13. (E:171)  In so doing, he did not even  mention the legal and factual 

basis of  Dr. Cordero’s objection to  prem ature transm ittal of  the incomplete reco rd and th e 

consequences in practical terms of the scheduling order. 

41. As a result, Dr. Cordero was forced to wr ite again to r aise before Judge Lar imer a “Motion fo r 

compliance with FRBkrP 8007 in  the scheduling of appellant’s brief” . (E:172) It pointed out that the 

District Court did not receive a “record [that] is co mplete for pu rposes of appeal”, as required under 

FRBkrP 8007(b), so that in contra vention of the rules it received an incomplete one; therefore, it 

had not obtained and still did not currently have jurisdiction over the case to issue a scheduling order. 

42. Dr. Cordero noted that there was no  justification for all the waste of tim e and effort as well as 

enormous aggravation that was being caused to him by requiring that he research, write, and file 

his brief by June 13 although not only he had not received the transcript, but also nobody knew 

even when the Reporter  would complete it, le t alone delive r it to him . Hence, if  the transc ript 

were delivered before the brief-filing deadline, he would have to scramble to read its hundreds 

of pages and then rework his whole brief to take  them into consideration and do in a hurry any 

necessary legal research. Worse yet, if the transcript were delivered after that filing deadline and 

before the District Court’s deci sion, he would have to m ove for leave to amend his brief and, if  

granted, write another brief. But if the transcript were not filed timely and the Bankruptcy Clerk 

notified Judge Ninfo thereof under FRBkrP 8 007(a), the outcom e c ould not be known in 

advance, no t to m ention that the circum stances of the Reporter ’s f ailure to com plete it could 

give rise to a host of new issues. And what would happen, Dr . Cordero asked, if the transcript 

was delive red after the Court had issued its decision? ! He conclud ed that ther e was no lega l 

basis for putting on him the onus of coping with all that burdensome extra work and uncertainty.  

43. In its third scheduling order of  May 17 (E:175), Judge Larimer di d not show any awareness of 

these issues, let alone that they were his concern. On the contrary, he issued his order as if:  

Appellant requested additional time within which to file and serve his brief. 

That request is granted,  in part. Appellant shall file and se rve his brief  
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within twenty (20) da ys of the date  that the tra nscript of th e bankruptcy 

proceedings is filed with the Clerk of the Bankruptcy Court.  

44. No! Dr. Cordero had certainly not “requested additional time”. What he had requested was for the 

Court to act in accordance with the law: (E:174) 

Rescind its scheduling order requiring that he file his brief by June 13 and 

reissue n o such order  until in  compliance with  FRBkrP 8007(b) it ha s 

received a complete record from the clerk of the bankruptcy court.  

45. Judge Larimer’s last order means in practice that if Reporter Dianetti ever files her transcript and 

it is found objectionable, Dr. Cordero will once more have to move the District Court to rescind 

that order and undertake corrective measures. In terms of the law, it means that the Judge issued a 

third order with d isregard for the le gal issues depriving him of jurisdiction to do s o. Did he intend 

for Dr. Cordero to file his brief without the benefit of the transcript? Did the Judge know that if  

Dr. Cordero insisted on obtaining the transcript, he would be given som e sort of such thing 

whose reliability would be so compromised that Reporter Dianetti would not certify it?  

46. These questions are justified because the instan t events are an exact repetition of the way Judge 

Larimer proceeded when Dr. Corde ro requested  the first transcrip t: After his colleague Judge 

Ninfo summarily dismissed Dr. Cordero’s cross-claims against Trustee Gordon at the hearing on 

December 18, 2002 (¶22 above), Dr. Cordero phoned Reporter Dianetti on January 8, to request 

the transcript. He then sent his notice of app eal, whose receipt was acknowledged by Bankr uptcy 

Case Manager Karen Tacy by letter  of January 14 (E:191), where she informed him that the due 

date for his designation of item s was Janua ry 27. Yet, already on January 16, 2003, Judge 

Larimer had an order filed scheduling Dr. Cord ero’s brief for 20 days hence (E :192) although 

the Bankru ptcy Clerk  had trans mitted to the Di strict Court a record so u nquestionably 

incomplete that it consisted of merely the notice of appeal! Then Reporter Dianetti tried to avoid 

submitting that transcript to Dr. Cordero and mishandled its delivery after completing it so  that 

it was sent to him only more than two and a half  months later, after Judge Ninfo ha d found out  

what Dr. Cordero had to say at the hearing on March 26, 2003 (¶27 above).  

47. These facts support the conclusion that just as  in the instant case, on that occasion Judge 

Larimer tried to deprive Dr. Cordero of the transcript by scheduling his brief for a date before he 

would receive it and be able to take it in to account. What a flagrant violation by adm inistrative 

and judicial officers of FRBk rP 8006 and 8007 as well as  coor dinated manipulation of filing  

dates (cf. E:157F; 73§2) and abusive im pairment of the right to appeal! (cf. E:123§III) W as 

Judge Larimer protecting Colleague Ninfo or Trustee Gordon or both? From what and what for? 
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48. In light of these precedents, what conceivable reason can Dr. Cordero have to believe that when 

a com plete record is properly before Judge Lari mer, the latter will decide the appeal in 

accordance with the law, the rule s, and the facts ? Once more, th is question is particularly  

pertinent because in the past J udge Larim er disregarded the law,  the rules, and the facts in 

deciding Dr. Cordero’s two appeals from  Pfuntner: Dr. Cordero’s opposition to Trustee  

Gordon’s motion to dism iss the appeal, docket  no. 03cv6021 (E:237¶50b));  and his application 

for default judgment against David Palmer, docket no. 03mbk6001 (E:142§C; 235B-237¶50a)). 

IV. Reporter Dianetti’s refusal to certify the transcript’s reliability is 
another manifestation of court officers who disregard the law, the 
rules, and the facts in support of a bankruptcy fraud scheme 

49. One m ust assum e that all these officers know that ‘the transcript is of critical im portance to 

meaningful appellate review’, U.S. v Workcuff, 137 App DC 263, 422 F2d 700 (1970), because,  

among other things, under FRCivP 80(c) ‘the stenographically recorded testimony of a witness at 

a hearing can be used to prove that testim ony at a later trial’; for its part, FRAP 10(a ) provides 

that “…the tran script of proceedings, if any,… shall con stitute the re cord on ap peal in  all ca ses” 

(emphasis added). Hence, ‘foreclosing exam ination of  a  c omplete tra nscript r enders illusory  

appellant’s right to appeal’, U.S. v Selva, 546 F2d 1173 (CA5 Fl, 1977).  

50. Harmful assumptions are also made by court officers and parties upon seeing judges and supervisors 

exhibit lack of commitment to the rule of  law and tendency to disregard the high ethica l standards 

that should guide the a dministration of j ustice. (cf. E: 239C) Their ins idious exa mple fosters a  

permissive environment that is self-reinforc ing since ‘we can do anyt hing like the bosses do  

too…and they’d better c over our bac ks ‘cause i f we go down they come t ogether with us’. Suc h 

everything goes, ext ortionist m entality ever more profoundly under mines the perfor mance of  

administrative tasks, indispensable for the judicial  process to follow its proper course . This breeds 

lack of candor, bias, and arbitrariness, which are attitudes inimical to due process; cf. William Bracy, 

Petitioner v. Richard B. Gramley, Warden, 520 U.S. 899; 117 S. Ct. 1793; 138 L. Ed. 2d 97 (1997).  

51. In such environment, one can imagine court officers engaging or allowing others to engage in conduct 

that can dep rive or is intend ed to deprive Dr. Cordero of transcripts. But a cautious and object ive 

reader would ask what motive they could have to do so. To find the answer, he or she should  

know who the DeLanos are and what they have done (E:19§I): Among other things, they filed a 

bankruptcy petition in January 2004, wherein th ey na med Dr. Cordero a mong their creditors 

because of his claim against Mr. DeLano pending since November 2002 in Pfuntner (E:23 fn.1). 
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Their petition is facially  i mplausible because Mr. DeLano is a 32-year veteran of the banking 

industry still employed by Manufacturers & Trad ers Trust Bank (M&T) as an executive  handling, 

of all matters, bankruptcies, but he and his wife pretend to have gone bankrupt with merely $535 in 

cash and accounts while refusing to provide doc uments concerning the whereabouts of $291,470 

that they earned in just the 2001- 03 fiscal years! Yet, to keep those documents from Dr. Cordero 

they are willing to run up, and their attorney knows they can afford, a legal bill of $16,654. (E:219) 

A rational m an, and a banker at that, would only in cur such cost if he had more to lose by 

producing the requested financial documents. Do you too now want to see those documents? 

52. Dr. Cordero did and reques ted Chapter 13 Trustee George Reiber under 11 U.S.C.  §1302(b)(1) and 

§704(4) to “investigate the financial affairs of t he debtor”, and under §704(7) to “furnish such information 

concerning the estate and the estate’s administration as is requested by a party in interest”. The reaction of 

the Trustee’s attorney, Jam es W eidman, Esq., i llegally conducting t he meeting of  c reditors on  

March 8, 2004 (C.F.R. §58.6(a)(10)), was to ask Dr. Cordero what he knew about the DeLanos 

having committed fraud, and when he would not answer, the Attorney terminated the meeting to 

prevent Dr. Cordero from exa mining them. (E:62A) Such termination violated the m eeting’s purpose 

under §341, §343, and FRBkrP 2004(b); yet the Trustee ratified it. Judge Ninfo condoned it (E:21§ II) 

as “local practice” (E:23§III; 66§2), thus disregarding his duty under §132 5(a)(3) to ascertain whether 

the petition was “in good faith [or] forbidden by law” and protecting the local parties again (E:116B-C). 

53. Indeed, Trustee Reiber had, according to PACER, 3,907 open cases before Judge Ninfo! (cf. ¶23 

above) He would not request the D eLanos to produce checking and savings account statem ents. 

Only at Dr. Cordero’s repeated  request did he pro form a ask them for other documents…only to 

allow them to stall p roducing even the very few that he had asked for. (E:24¶¶14-19) Neverthe-

less, Tru stee Reiber ’s s upervisors, Assistan t U.S. Trustee Kathleen D univin Sch mitt and U.S. 

Trustee for Region 2 Deirdre Martini, would not require him to investigate the DeLanos (E:20¶g; 

36§V) or replace him with a trustee willing and able to do so (E:14§II).  

54. On July 9, 2004, Dr. Cordero presented evidence that the DeLanos were engaged in bankruptcy 

fraud, particularly concealm ent of assets. He moved for an order to produce docum ents that 

could prove it, such as bank acc ounts. (E:90§I) To elim inate him before he could obtain them , 

the DeLanos filed on July 22 a m otion to disallow his claim. Judge Ninfo supported it, although 

it was barred by laches and untim ely (E:74¶¶46-54) and did not order any production (E:68B; 

107). Only at Dr. Cordero’s instigation did he issue a watered-down order that he allowed the 

DeLanos to violate (E :32§3) -just as he has allowed Pfuntner parties to do (E:145D)- Then he 
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stopped all other proceedings in DeLano, thus forestalling a renewed opposition under §§1325(b) 

and 102(4) by Dr. Cordero to their repaym ent pla n, and forced him  to take discovery of Mr. 

DeLano to prove his claim  against him  in Pfuntner (E:195 §§I-II). The  re sult of his discovery 

would be presented at an evidentiary heari ng on March 1, 2005. But Mr. DeLano and the Judge 

denied him every document that he requested. (E:77§§1-2) Yet, in his decision on appeal of April 

4, the Judge disallowed the claim because ‘Dr. Cordero did not introduce any document to prove 

it!’ What a set up! (E:33B) 

55. However, Dr. Cordero could still introdu ce on appeal one threatening docum ent: the transcript. 

Indeed, at the March 1 evidentiary hearing he elicited from Mr. De Lano admissions corroborating 

all the elements of his claim  and even new info rmation strengthening it. Judge Ninfo dealt with 

that testimony in his April 4 decision by dis missing it on the allegation that Mr. DeLano had 

been “confused” by Dr. Cordero. The ludicrousness of such  pretense of a re ason for dism issing 

damaging testimony is all the m ore obvious beca use Mr. DeLano was testifying about his o wn 

actions as an expert handling the bankruptcy in Pfuntner. (E:23 fn.1) Also, he was assisted by two 

seasoned attorneys, Christopher W erner, Esq., who according to his own  statement ‘has been  in 

this business for 29 years’ now and, as shown in  PACER, had alread y at the time appeared 

before Judge Ninfo in 525 cases; and Michael Be yma, Esq., who is the attorney for Mr. DeLano 

and M&T in Pfuntner and a partner in the firm  of Underberg & Kessler, of which the Judge was 

also a partner before being appointed to the bench in 1992 1. The transcript will also allow Judg e 

Ninfo’s peers to hear from his own mouth his bias and contempt for due process. (E:209C-E) 

56. Mr. De Lano’s self-incri minating testimony and Judge Ninfo’s perfor mance as his on-the-benc h 

advocate, if it were completely and a ccurately reflected in the transcript (E:216F) , can have devas-

tating consequences: It will show th at the untimely motion to disa llow and the abuse-of-process 

evidentiary hearing con stituted a two-punch sham (E:33B) to justify stripp ing Dr. Cordero of 

standing as a creditor of the DeLanos so as to prevent him from obtaining the documents that can 

prove the bankruptcy fraud (cf. E:47 §II) of we ll-connected Veteran Banker DeLano. In his 32 -

year banking career, he must have com e to know too much  to be left unprotected from  hi s 

                                                 
1Judge Ninfo is up for reappointment and the investigation requested here should assist in de-
ciding whether to reappoint him. Sooner or later what drives him, the other court officers, and 
the local parties to disregard their duty and legality will be exposed, whether by the Judicial 
Conference, the FBI, the Congressional committees on the judiciary, or investigative journalists. 
Those who vote to reappoint him (cf. E:202) despite all the evidence of wrongdoing collected during 
the past three years (E:115§II) and presented to each of the members of the CA2 and Judicial 
Council (E:239C; 201) by Dr. Cordero will end up embarrassed and having to explain themselves. 
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creditors or, worse, liable to criminal charges and, thus, tempted by a plea bargain to trade in his 

we-are-all-in-the-same-boat incrimination. (E:83§3) Precisely, his confession can open the way 

to proving that the long series of acts beginning in Pfuntner (E:134§I) of disregard for the law, 

the rules, and the facts by court officers, all cons istently to the detriment of non-local pro se Dr. 

Cordero and the benef it of lo cal parties (E :117C-E), form a pattern of non-coincidental, 

intentional, and coordinated wrongdoing in bankruptcy. Therei n cases approved generate a 

commission of all paym ents by debtors to creditors  as well as deb t relief that spares  concealed 

assets. That relief alone can save the DeLanos more than $144,000 in debt plus delinquent interest 

at over 25%. (E:248¶75) Money, lots of m oney, “the source of all evil”, and a web of local re-

lations giving rise to what is at stake here: a bankruptcy fraud scheme and its cover-up. (E:234D) 

57. Indeed, when so many officers wh o meet daily in a small building to work as a for mal unit of 

colleagues and appointers-appointees (28 U.S.C.  §751(a), (b); §753(a)) disregard their duty and 

legality as they engage  in ‘d iversity of city’ discrimination against a f ar away litig ant, one can  

infer tha t th ey are  not s imply performing their functions incom petently and with acciden tally 

identical re sults. Instead , the law a llows the  application of  comm on sense to  c ircumstantial 

evidence to  draw the inference of intentionality and coordina tion fro m the acts of reasonab le 

persons operating as a team to attain the shared  objective of a sche me. On such basis, juries of 

lay persons are asked to  make inferences that can lead to a  f inding of  guilt beyon d reasonable 

doubt, which will deprive the accu sed of his p roperty, his liberty, and even hi s life. That is what 

the schemers stand to lose, who can be exposed as such by the transcript of one of their reporters. 

V. Bankruptcy court reporters are subject to 28 U.S.C. §753 and 
the supervision of the Judicial Conference 

58. FRBkrP 5007(b) on transcript fees is comm ented on in the Advisory Comm ittee Notes to tha t 

Rule thus : “Subdivision (b) is derived from 28 U.S.C. §753 (f)”. This show s that §753, the Court 

Reporter Act of 1944, as am ended, is  applicable to bankruptcy co urt reporters, just as it is 

applicable to district court reporters, who are expressly appointed under §753(a). 

59. The same conclusion follows f rom the applicability of  §753 to th e district court clerks, who in 

districts where no bankruptcy cler k ha s be en a ppointed, pe rform t he s ame c lerkship dut ies for  t he 

respective bankruptcy courts, which follows from FRBkrP 5001, Advisory Committee Notes, 1987 

Amendments, “…Clerk mean s the bankrupt cy clerk, if one ha s been a ppointed for the  district; if a 

bankruptcy clerk has not b een appointed, clerk means clerk of the district court”. Therefore, if district 

court clerks can perform  the sa me duties as bankruptcy court cl erks although such d uties have 
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some e lements s pecifically c onnected w ith b ankruptcy, s uch a s k eeping c laims r egisters under 

FRBkrP 5003(b), then district c ourt reporters can also serve as bankruptcy court reporters and 

vice versa since the nature of the proceedings that they record does not affect their duty to:  

§753(b)…record verbatim b y shorthand, mechanical means, electronic sound 

recording, or any other method, subject to regulations…[e]a ch session of 

the court an d every oth er proceeding designat ed by rule or order of the 

court or by one of the judges… (cf.¶13 above) 

60. Applying by analogy the  same rule s to reporters in either court as  is done to cler ks per forming 

bankruptcy clerkship duties is  supported by §753(d), which provides that reporters’ “records shall 

be inspected and audited in the same manner as the records and accounts of clerks of the district courts”.  

61. The applicability of §753 to bankruptcy court reporters is also arrived at by elimination. Thus, 28 

U.S.C. §156. Staff; expenses, provides under subsection (a) for each bankruptcy judge to appoin t 

a secretary and a law clerk, and under (b) for the bankruptcy judge s for a district to appoint a 

bankruptcy clerk upon certifying th at the number of cases and proceedings so warrants. B y 

contrast, §156 does not provide fo r bankruptcy judges to appoint re porters; neither does FRBkrP 

Part V-Bankruptcy Courts and Clerks. The appointment of reporters is provided for under §753(a), 

which empowers the Judicial Conference to determine their number and qualifications. 

62. Moreover, bankruptcy courts are adjunct to the di strict courts, which refer bankruptcy cases to 

them under 28 U.S.C. §157(a) pursuant to the bankruptcy system  set up in the Bankruptcy 

Amendments and Federal Judgeship Act of 1984, Pub. L. No. 98-353, 98 Stat. 333, in the 

aftermath of Northern Pipeline Construction Co. v. Marathon Pipe Line Co., 458 U.S. 50 (1982), 

which drew in question the constitutionality of some appellate aspects of the Bankruptcy Reform 

Act of 1978, Pub. L. No. 95-598, 92 Stat. 2549 (1978) . The bankruptcy courts adjudicate cases 

referred to them by the district cou rts subject to the sam e adm inistrative provisions to which 

district cour ts are subje ct if  they adjudica te those cases, whether before any referral or after it 

upon withdrawing them under §156(d) from  the bankruptcy courts back to them selves. In either 

event, the staff of the district or the bankruptcy courts, including the court reporters, perform the 

same functions subject to the same supervision, just as the public deals with them the same way. 

VI. Request for Relief 

63. The court officers and local parties are determined not to allow Dr. Cordero to us e the Pfuntner-

DeLano cases as a wedge to crack the bankruptcy fraud scheme. (E:51§IV) But they cannot prevent the 

Conference from investigating Reporter Dianetti and thus reaching the source of wrongdoing infect-
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ing the core of judicial integrity. It is for each Conference member to determine how he or she will 

handle that clique and their p attern of disregard for duty and legality. Will each discharge his or 

her own duty to apply the law ev en to co lleagues and appo intees who have broken it for their 

own advantage, even by denying due process to a non-lo cal person on whom they have inflicted 

enormous material and emotional injury for years? Failure to do so will only condone and thereby 

encourage those of ficers and par ties to comm it ever bo lder acts, which  will a ccumulate until 

attaining a critical m ass threatening to explode  and expose them , which will induce them into a 

cover up requiring ever m ore egregious, even crim inal acts. (E:243D ) It is a vicious  circle that 

can only end up in disaster and sham e for its active participants as well as those who had the 

duty to stop them but who instead aided and abetted them through their passivity in dereliction of 

duty. The choice is between sticking with unwort hy members of the same class and keeping the  

oath to uphold the law and to fairness and justice. (E:253E) Where do your loyalties lie? 

64. Therefore, Dr. Cordero respectfully requests that the Judicial Conference: 

a. Investigate under 28 U.S.C. §753(c) the refusal of Court Reporter Mary  Dianetti to certify 

the reliability of the transcript in question in connection with the DeLano and Pfuntner cases 

as well as  with th e broader context of  the  p attern of  no n-coincidental, inten tional, an d 

coordinated acts of disregard for the law, the rules, and the facts e ngaged in by other court 

officers and parties in the Bankruptcy Court, WBNY, and District Court, WDNY 

b. Designate under §753(b) 3 rd paragraph an experienced court reporter, unr elated to ei ther 

Court Reporter Mary Dianetti or any court offi cers, whether jud icial o r administrative, of  

either of those Courts, to prepare the transcript based on all the stenographic packs and folds 

used by her to record the evid entiary hearing of March 1, 2005, having due regard for the 

chain of custody and condition of such packs and folds; and review such transcript; and 

c. Refer the DeLano and Pfuntner cases for investigation unde r 18 U.S.C. §3057(a) to U.S. 

Attorney General Alberto Gonzales, with the recommendation that they be investigated by 

U.S. attorneys and FBI agents, such as those from the Department of Justice and FBI offices  

in W ashington, D.C., or Chicago, w ho are unfam iliar with  either case, and unrelated and  

unacquainted with any of the pa rties or officers that m ay be investigated, and that no staff 

from such offices in either Rochester or Buffalo participate in any way in such investigation. 

Dated:       July 28, 2005   
59 Crescent St.,  Dr. Richard Cordero 
Brooklyn, NY 11208,  tel. (718) 827-9521 
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Statement by Bankruptcy Court Reporter Mary Dianetti  

of the number of folds and packs of stenographic paper 

comprising her recording of the evidentiary hearing  

held on March 1, 2005, before Judge John C. Ninfo, II 

of the DeLano Debtors’ motion to disallow Dr. Richard Cordero’s claim  

in In re DeLano, no. 04-20280, WBNY 
 

 

 
 

Ms. Mary Dianetti 

Bankruptcy Court Reporter 

612 South Lincoln Road 

East Rochester, NY 14445 

tel. (585) 586-6392 

rep:28



Dr. Cordero’s request of 4/18/5 to Rep Dianetti to state transcript cost & stenographic folds & packs count C:1155 

Dr. Richard Cordero 
Ph.D., University of Cambridge, England  59 Crescent Street 
M.B.A., University of Michigan Business School   Brooklyn, NY 11208‐1515 
D.E.A., La Sorbonne, Paris  tel. (718) 827‐9521; CorderoRic@yahoo.com 

 
 
 
 

April 18, 2005 
 

 
Ms. Mary Dianetti 
612 South Lincoln Road 
East Rochester, NY 14445 

 
[(585)586-6392] 

Dear Ms. Dianetti,  
 

I would like to know the cost of the transcript of your stenographic 

recording of the evidentiary hearing held on March 1, 2005, in the U.S. 

Bankruptcy Court in Rochester in the case of David and Mary Ann 

DeLano, docket no. 04-20280. 

Kindly let me know also the number of stenographic packs and the 

number of folds in each pack that you used to record that hearing and that 

you will be using to prepare the transcript.  

Please indicate whether the transcript can be made available in 

electronic form, such as a floppy disk or a compact disk and, if so, how 

much it would cost to have the transcript made: 

1. only in electronic form 

2. only printed on paper 

3. both in electronic form and on paper.  

State also the arrangements that can be made so that after the 

transcript has been completed, I can make a copy of the stenographic 

packs and folds that you used for your transcription and for a government 

agency to inspect the original packs and folds that you used. 

yours sincerely, 
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Dr. Richard Cordero 
Ph.D., University of Cambridge, England  59 Crescent Street 
M.B.A., University of Michigan Business School   Brooklyn, NY 11208‐1515 
D.E.A., La Sorbonne, Paris  tel. (718) 827‐9521; CorderoRic@yahoo.com 

 
 
 
 
 

May 10, 2005 
 

 
Ms. Mary Dianetti 
612 South Lincoln Road 
East Rochester, NY 14445 

 
[(585)586-6392] 

Dear Ms. Dianetti, 
 

Thank you for your letter of May 3, indicating that you estimate at 

between $600 and $650 the cost of the transcript of your stenographic 

recording of the evidentiary hearing held on March 1, 2005, in the U.S. 

Bankruptcy Court in Rochester in the case of David and Mary Ann 

DeLano, docket no. 04-20280.  

You added the caveat “Please u nderstand thi s is an estimate  only” . 

Since you already stated that it can fluctuate between $600 and $650, I 

would appreciate your letting me know by how much more your estimate 

can fluctuate. 

This makes it all the more necessary that you state how many 

packs of stenographic paper and how many folds in each pack constitute 

the whole of your recording. I trust you will have no problem in providing 

me with this information this time. 

Please let me know also on what type of disk, i.e. floppy disk or 

CD, the transcript can be provided (in addition to the paper copy) and 

whether it can be provided in Microsoft Word, Adobe PDF Acrobat, or 

both. 

yours sincerely, 
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Dr. Richard Cordero 
Ph.D., University of Cambridge, England  59 Crescent Street 
M.B.A., University of Michigan Business School   Brooklyn, NY 11208‐1515 
D.E.A., La Sorbonne, Paris  tel. (718) 827‐9521; CorderoRic@yahoo.com 
 

 
 

May 26, 2005 
Ms. Mary Dianetti 
612 South Lincoln Road 
East Rochester, NY 14445 [(585)586-6392] 
 
Re: transcript of the evidentiary hearing held on March 1, 2005, in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court 

in Rochester in the case of David and Mary Ann DeLano, docket no. 04-20280 
 
Dear Ms. Dianetti, 

 
I am in receipt of your letter of 19 instant. Therein you indicate that: 

I am unable to state how much my estimate can fluctuate, if it fluctuates at all, 
unless I prepare the entire transcript prior to your ordering it. 

A single digit estimate is a price quotation that alerts the client to the risk that the final 
price may go up from the quoted dollar amount and to the enticing possibility that it may go 
down, but it does not indicate how much that amount can move in either direction. The purpose 
of a fork estimate is to eliminate this uncertainty by setting upper and lower limits on the amount 
to be billed for. The spread between the forks limits “how much [your] estimate can fluctuate”. 

Your letter of May 3 provided such fork by stating that the price for the above-captioned 
transcript would be between $600 and $650. However, it reintroduced that uncertainty by stating 
“Please understand that this is an estimate only”, meaning that your estimate could fluctuate beyond 
the limits of the fork. My letter of May 10 only tried to ascertain by how much those limits can 
be exceeded. Given your professional experience as a court reporter and the fact that you are in 
possession of the stenographic packs and had to count their folds to arrive at the estimate, you 
are in a better position than I am to state by how much your estimate can go lower than $600 or 
higher than $650. If you cannot state those limits, the final amount can be anywhere above or 
below that fork. In practical terms this means that there is no estimate at all. Consequently, I am 
left to assume all the risk and be liable for whatever final price you bill me for. I hope you will 
agree that does not sound either fair to me or an acceptable business arrangement.  

My concern is only heightened by the fact that although you necessarily had to count the 
number of stenographic packs and their folds to calculate the number of transcript pages and 
estimate the cost of the transcript, you have not seen fit to provide me with that count in response 
to the request in both my letters of April 18 and May 10 that you state such count. The fact that 
you provided a pack and fold count on March 1 is not a convincing, let alone reassuring, reason 
for your not providing it now in the context of my ordering the transcript and making a 
commitment to paying hundreds and hundreds of dollars for it.  

Therefore, I respectfully request that you: 

1. provide a reliable upper limit for the estimated cost or agree that it will not exceed $650; and 

2. state the number of stenographic packs and the number of folds in each that comprise the 
whole recording of the evidentiary hearing and that will be translated into the transcript.  

Sincerely, 
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Dr. Richard Cordero 
Ph.D., University of Cambridge, England  59 Crescent Street 
M.B.A., University of Michigan Business School   Brooklyn, NY 11208‐1515 
D.E.A., La Sorbonne, Paris  tel. (718) 827‐9521; CorderoRic@yahoo.com 

 
June 25, 2005 

Ms. Mary Dianetti 
612 South Lincoln Road 
East Rochester, NY 14445 [(585)586-6392] 
 

Re: transcript of the evidentiary hearing held on March 1, 2005, in the U.S. Bankruptcy 
Court in Rochester in the case of David and Mary Ann DeLano, docket no. 04-20280 

 
Dear Ms. Dianetti, 

 
Thank you for your letter of June 13, whose envelope was postmarked June 15 by the Fed-

eral Station in Rochester, the one situated in the Federal Building where the Bankruptcy Court is. 

I appreciate your stating the number of stenographic packs and folds in the recording of 
the above-captioned DeLano evidentiary hearing. I note that you stated that: 

Also, I am l isting the  n umber of stenographic packs and  t he number of folds in each 
pack and t his is the same information that w as give to you on the afternoon of  the 
hearing as I  had marked each pa ck with the  number of folds within yo ur view and a m 
just giving you those exact numbers at this time. 

I assume that this does not mean that you are merely copying the information that you 
gave me on March 1 at the end of the hearing. Instead, I made what I meant you to state quite 
clear in my latest letter to you of May 26: 

[since] you necessarily had to coun t the number of stenogr aphic packs and their  
folds to  calculate the  number of transcript  pages and e stimate the cost of the  
transcript…provide me with that count…Therefore… 

2. state the nu mber of stenographic p acks and th e number of folds in ea ch that 
comprise th e whole re cording of  the evidenti ary hearing and that  will be 
translated into the transcript. 

I hope that you will realize that the way you have formulated your answer raises con-
cerns, coming as it does after your refusal to provide the requested information in your letters to 
me of May 3 and 19 despite my express requests in my letters to you of April 18 and May 10 and 
26. Yet, your answer makes providing that information appear as easy to do as simply copying it 
from your records, which conversely makes your refusal to provide it so difficult to understand. 

Consequently, to eliminate any margin whatsoever for divergence between my request 
for information and your answer, I take the latter to mean the following: 

1. Upon my initial and subsequent requests for you to state the cost of the transcript based 
on a count of the stenographic packs and folds of the whole recording of the DeLano 
evidentiary hearing, 

2. you actually counted them a second time; found the number of such packs and folds to 
coincide exactly with the number of packs and folds that you stated in writing for me at 
the end of such hearing; and 

3. based on that second count you calculated the cost of the transcript at the official and 
customarily charged rate of $3.30 per page; arrived at an estimate of between $600 and 
$650; have agreed with me that the final cost will not exceed $650; and will include in 
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the transcript everything and only that which is contained in those packs and folds. 

If my understanding of your answer diverges from either your intended answer or all the 
facts in any way that you consider to be significant or even insignificant, I formally request that 
you state such divergence. If you do not do so, I will assume your silence to confirm that my 
understanding as above stated coincides totally with both your intended answer and with all the 
facts. This statement of my understanding is as simple as the formulation that you have heard 
perhaps hundreds of times and that courts all over the nation assume every lay person 
understands and is in a position to affirm: your confirmation, whether in writing or by silence, is 
the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth. 

Hence, I hereby make your confirmation of my understanding part of the essence of this 
contract for service between you and me. Similarly, the following conditions are of the essence 
of this contract and constitute conditions precedent to my obligation to pay you: 

1. You will provide a transcript that is an accurate and complete written representation, with 
neither additions, deletions, omissions, nor other modifications, of the oral exchanges among 
the litigants, the witness, the judicial officers, and any other third parties that spoke at the 
DeLano evidentiary hearing. At my discretion and for the purpose, inter alia, of ascertaining 
such accuracy and completeness, you will make available, upon my designation, to a 
government agency or a private entity, all the packs and folds that you used to record the 
hearing and, if different, also those that you used to prepare the transcript. 

2. Upon completion of the transcript, you will simultaneously file one paper copy with the clerk 
of the bankruptcy court and mail to me by priority mail a paper copy together with an 
electronic copy on a floppy disk in PDF format and in Microsoft Word, or otherwise in Word 
Perfect; and you will not make available any copy in any format to any other party, whether a 
court officer –whether a judicial or clerical officer-, litigant, or any other person, but if you 
do make a copy available to any of them either before or after filing or mailing it to me, you 
will let me know immediately and will exempt me from payment and reimburse me any 
payment already made.  

3. You will truthfully state in your certificate accompanying the transcript that up to the time of 
your receipt of this letter and from then until the moment that the copies of the transcript are 
filed and mailed to me, you have not discussed with any other party (aside from me), whether 
a court officer, litigant, or any other person, and none of them has attempted to discuss with 
you, the content that should form part or that did form part of your stenographic recording of 
the DeLano evidentiary hearing or of the transcript; but if you have discussed such content or 
any of them has attempted to discuss it with you, then you will state their names, the 
circumstances and content of such discussions or attempt at such discussions, and their 
impact on the preparation of the transcript.  

In consideration for your promise to perform, and your actual performance of, your 
transcription service as described above and in accordance with applicable law and rules, I 
promise to pay you upon confirmation thereof up to $650, by credit card if acceptable to you, 
and in any event by check. 

I trust you realize that what we are trying to do here is exceedingly easy to understand and 
basic to any contractual agreement: You give me a good transcript and I pay you good money. 

Sincerely, 
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Judicial Conference of the United States 
 

 

SUPPLEMENT TO THE PETITION for an Investigation under 28 

U.S.C. §753(c) of a Court Reporter’s Refusal to Certify the 

Reliability of her Transcript and for Designation under §753(b) of 

Another Individual to Produce the Transcript 

PROVIDING ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE of how the reporter’s refusal 

forms part of a bankruptcy fraud scheme in which the debt 

repayment plan of a debtor, who has spent his 32-year career in 

banking and is currently in charge of bankruptcies of his bank’s 

clients, was confirmed upon the trustee’s allegation of having 

investigated and found no bankruptcy fraud on the debtor’s part 

and the bankruptcy judge’s acceptance of such allegation despite 

the evidence in the trustee’s own documents and conduct of never 

having carried out any such fraud investigation  

and how the trustee knows that he is so secure in his position that he 

never bothered to oppose any of the motions for his removal that were 

raised before both the bankruptcy and the district judges, WDNY  

 
Dr. Richard Cordero, Petitioner  

 
 

Dr. Richard Cordero states under penalty of perjury the following: 

1. Dr. Richard Cordero filed on July 28, 2005, with the Judicial Conference, and copied to its 

members, a petition for the Conference to conduct the above captioned investigation and 

designate a substitute for Court Reporter Mary Dianetti, Bankruptcy Court, WBNY. The 

transcript whose reliability Reporter Dianetti has refused to certify would show to the 

Conference –and eventually to the Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit and the Supreme 

Court- how both the above-mentioned debtor, who together with his wife filed David and Mary 

Ann DeLano, docket no. 04-20280, WBNY, and the bankruptcy judge, John C. Ninfo, II, abused 

process at the evidentiary hearing on March 1, 2005, of the DeLanos’ motion to disallow Dr. 

Cordero’s claim, a motion that was filed as an artifice to eliminate Dr. Cordero from the case 

rep:41



C:1128 Dr. Cordero’s petition supplement of 8/30/5 to J Conf.: debtor’s plan confirmed as part of bkr fraud scheme 

after he introduced evidence found in the DeLanos’ bankruptcy petition and some documents 

that they had produced showing that they had committed bankruptcy fraud, particularly 

concealment of assets. Had Dr. Cordero not been eliminated, he would have standing to keep 

asking for an investigation of the DeLanos and requesting documents from them under 11 

U.S.C. §704(4) and (7) and would have been able to prevent the undue confirmation of the plan 

on July 25, 2005, by objecting to it under §1325(b)(1) (all §# references are to 11 U.S.C. unless 

the context indicates otherwise). 

2. Hence, the elimination of Dr. Cordero through the artifice of the motion to disallow opened the 

way for Chapter 13 Trustee George Reiber to submit the DeLanos’ debt repayment plan for 

confirmation and for Judge Ninfo to confirm it. There are two motives to proceed thus: One is to 

avoid a harm in that the confirmation of the plan despite the evidence of bankruptcy fraud 

insures that the DeLanos will not be charged with fraud and, therefore, will have no incentive to 

enter into a plea bargain in which Mr. DeLano would disclose what he has during his 32-year 

banking career learned about bankruptcy fraud committed by debtors, trustees, and judicial 

officers, whereby those people would end up being incriminated. The other very powerful and 

corruptive motive is to obtain a benefit: MONEY!, for the plan’s confirmation allows the 

DeLanos to avoid 78¢ on the dollar owed for a saving of over $140,000 plus all compounding 

delinquent interest at over 25% per year and in addition spares them having to account for more 

than $670,000! (¶48 below)  

3. The confirmation of the plan on the pretext that an investigation of the DeLanos had been 

conducted and cleared them is only the latest in a pattern of non-coincidental, intentional, and 

coordinated acts in disregard of the law, the rules, and the facts that shows the existence of a 

bankruptcy fraud scheme. Such scheme provides the context for the other act, that is, the 

Reporter’s refusal to certify the reliability of the transcript of her own recording of the 

evidentiary hearing. When the Judicial Conference discharges its statutory duty under 28 U.S.C. 

§753 by investigating such refusal upon Dr. Cordero’s original petition (on the scope of that 

duty, see P.§V¶58 et seq. (P.=original petition)), the Conference should also exercise its duty 

under 28 U.S.C. §331 “to improve[] any matters in respect of [] the administration of justice in the courts 

of the United States”, foremost among which are the integrity of court officers and judicial 

process, by investigating the operation of that scheme in confirming the plan as described in this 

supplement to the petition.  
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*********************** 

I. The “Trustee’s Findings of Fact and Summary of 341 Hearing” 
reveal that the same Trustee Reiber who filed as his “Report” 
shockingly unprofessional and perfunctory scraps of papers did 
not investigate the DeLanos for bankruptcy fraud, contrary to 
his statement and its acceptance by Judge Ninfo 

4. The investigation of the confirmation of the plan can take as its starting point the following 
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entries in the DeLano docket no. 04-20280 [Petition Exhibits, page 176=P.E:176] 

Filing Date # Docket Text 

 

06/23/2005   Clerk's Note: (TEXT ONLY EVENT) (RE: related document(s)5 
CONFIRMATION HEARING At the request of the Chapter 13 Trustee, 
the Confirmation Hearing in this case is being restored to the 7/25/05 
Calendar at 3:30 p.m. (Parkhurst, L.) (Entered: 06/23/2005) 

 

07/25/2005 134 Confirmation Hearing Held - Plan confirmed. The Court found that the 
Plan was proposed in good faith, it meets the best interest test, it is 
feasible and it meets the requirements of Sec. 1325. The Trustee 
completed his investigation of allegations of bankruptcy fraud and 
found there to be none. The Trustee read a statement into the record 
regarding his investigation. The plan payment were reduced to $635.00 
per month in July 2004 and will increase to $960.00 per month when a 
pension loan is paid for an approximate dividend of five percent. The 
Trustee will confirm the date the loan will be paid off. The amount of 
$6,700.00 from the sale of the trailer will be turned over to the Plan. All 
of the Trustee's objections were resolved and he has no objections to 
Mr. Werner's attorney fees. Mr. Werner is to attach time sheets to the 
confirmation order. Appearances: Debtors, Christopher Werner, 
attorney for debtors, George Reiber, Trustee. (Lampley, A.) (Entered: 
08/03/2005) 

 
5. When one clicks on hyperlink 134 what downloads is a three-page document titled “Trustee’s 

Findings of Fact and Summary of 341 Hearing”. What shockingly unprofessional and perfunctory 

scraps of papers! (Exhibits, pages 271-273, infra=E:271-273) Their acceptance by Judge Ninfo as 

the Trustee’s “Report” (¶32 below) is so revealing that they warrant close analysis. 

6. Even if Trustee Reiber has no idea of what a professional paper looks like, he has the standards 

of the Federal Rules as a guide to what he can file. One of those Rules provides thus: 

FRBkrP 9004. General Requirements of Form 
(a) Legibility; abbreviations 

All petitions, pleadings, schedules and other papers shall be clearly 
legible. Abbreviations in common use in the English language may be 
used. (emphasis added) 

7. The handwritten jottings on those scrap papers are certainly not “clearly legible”. The standard for 

legibility can further be gleaned from the Local Bankruptcy Rules: 
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Local Bankruptcy Rule 9004.    PAPERS 
9004-1. FORM OF PAPERS     [Former Rule 13 A] 

All pleadings and other papers shall be plainly and legibly written, 
preferably typewritten, printed or reproduced; shall be without erasures or 
interlineations materially defacing them; shall be in ink or its equivalent on 
durable, white paper of good quality; and, except for exhibits, shall be on 
letter size paper, and fastened in durable covers. (emphasis added) 

9004-2. CAPTION     [Former Rule 13 B] 

All pleadings and other papers shall be captioned with the name of the 
Court, the title of the case, the proper docket number or numbers, including 
the initial at the end of the number indicating the Judge to whom the matter 
has been assigned, and a description of their nature. All pleadings and other 
papers, unless excepted under Rule 9011 Fed.R.Bankr.P., shall be dated, 
signed and have thereon the name, address and telephone number of each 
attorney, or if no attorney, then the litigant appearing. (emphasis added) 

9004-3. Papers not conforming with this rule generally shall be received by the Bank-
ruptcy Clerk, but the effectiveness of any such papers shall be subject to 
determination of the Court. [Former Rule 13 D]   (emphasis added) 

8. The interlineations and crossings-out and crisscrossing lines and circles and squares and 

uncommon abbreviations and the scattering of meaningless jottings deface these scrap papers. 

Moreover, they are not captioned with the name of any court.  

9. What is more, the ‘description’ “Trustee’s Findings of Fact and Summary of 341 Hearing” is 

ambiguous and confusing. Indeed, there is no such thing as a “341 Hearing”. What is there is 

“§341 Meetings of creditors and equity security holders”. The distinction between meetings and 

hearings is a substantive one because §341 specifically provides as follows: 

11 U.S.C. §341 (c) the court may not preside at, and may not attend, any meeting 
under this section including any final meeting of creditors.  

10. Neither the court can attend a §341 meeting nor a trustee has any authority to conduct a hearing. 

The trustee does not listen passively at such a meeting either. This is how his role is described:   

11 U.S.C.§343. Examination of the debtor 
The debtor shall appear and submit to examination under oath at the 
meeting of creditors under section 341(a) of the title. Creditors, any 
indenture trustee, any trustee or examiner in the case, or the United 
States trustee may examine the debtor. The United States trustee may 
administer the oath required under this section. (emphasis added) 

11. The trustee attends a §341 meeting to engage in the active role of an examiner of the debtor. 

Actually, his role is inquisitorial. So §1302(b) makes most of §704 applicable to a Chapter 13 
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case, such as DeLano is. In turn, the Legislative Report on §704 states that the trustee works “for 

the benefit of general unsecured creditors whom the trustee represents”. That representation requires 

the trustee to adopt the same inquisitorial, distrustful attitude that the creditors are legally 

entitled to adopt at their meeting when examining the debtor, which is unequivocally stated 

under §343 in its Statutory Note and made explicitly applicable to the trustee thus: 

The purpose of the examination is to enable creditors and the trustee to 
determine if assets have improperly been disposed of or concealed or if 
there are grounds for objection to discharge. (emphasis added) 

12. Hence, what is it that Trustee Reiber conducts if he does not even know how to refer to it in the 

title of his scrap papers: a §341 meeting of creditors or an impermissible “341 Hearing” before 

Judge Ninfo? And in DeLano, when did that “341 Hearing” take place?, for not only is such 

“Hearing” not dated, but also none of those three scrap papers is dated, in disregard of the 

requirement under Local Bankruptcy Rule 9004-2 (¶7 above) that they “shall be dated”. 

However, if the Trustee’s scrap papers refer to a meeting of creditors, to which one given that 

there were two, one on March 8, 2004, and the other on February 1, 2005? Moreover, on such 

occasion, what attitude did the Trustee adopt toward the DeLanos: an inquisitorial one in line 

with his duty to suspect them of bankruptcy fraud or a passive one dictated by the foregone 

conclusion that the DeLanos had to be protected and given debt relief by confirming their plan? 

13. Nor do those scrap papers comply with the requirement that they “shall be signed”. Merely initial-

izing page 2 (E:272) is no doubt another manifestation of the perfunctory nature of Trustee Rei-

ber’s scrap papers, but it is no substitute for affixing his signature to it. Does so initializing it betray 

the Trustee’s shame about putting his full name on such unprofessional filing with a U.S. court?  

A. The third scrap of paper “I/We filed Chapter 13 for one or more of the following 
reasons:” with its substandard English and lack of any authoritative source  for 
the “reasons” cobbled together in such cursory form indicts the Trustee and 
Judge Ninfo who relied thereon for their pretense that a bankruptcy fraud 
investigation had been  conducted 

14. The third scrap paper (E:273) bears the typewritten statement “I/We filed Chapter 13 for one or 

more of the following reasons:” Which one of the DeLanos, or was it both, made the checkmarks 

and jottings on it? If the latter were made by Trustee Reiber at his very own “341 Hearing”, did he 

simply hear the DeLanos’ “reasons” for filing –assuming such attribution can be made to them–

and uncritically accept them? Yet, those “reasons” raise a host of critical questions. Let’s 

examine those that have been checkmarked and have any handwritten jottings next to them: 
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  √  Lost employment (Wife) Age 59      

15. What is the relevance of the Wife losing her employment? Mr. DeLano lost his employment 

over 10 years ago and then found another one and is currently employed, earning an above-aver-

age income of $67,118 in 2003, according to the Statement of Financial Affairs in their petition.  

16. Likewise, what is the relevance of her losing her employment at age 59, or was that her age 

whenever that undated scrap paper was jotted? Given that the last jotting connects a “reason” for 

filing their petition on January 27, 2004, to a “pre-1990” event, it is fair to ask when she lost her 

employment and what impact it had on their filing now.  

  √  Hours or pay reduced (Husband 62) To delay retirement to complete plan 

17. Does the inconsistency between writing “62” inside the parenthesis in this “reason” and writing 

“Age 59” outside the parenthesis in the “reason” above reflect different meanings or only stress 

the perfunctory nature of these jottings? Does it mean that he was 62 when his hours or pay 

were reduced and that before that age he was earning even more than the $67,118 that he earned 

in 2003 or that when he turns 62 his hours or pay will be reduced and, if so, by how much, why, 

and with what impact on his ability to pay his debts? Or does it mean that he will “delay 

retirement” until he turns 62 so as “to complete plan”?  

18. Otherwise, what conceivable logical relation is there between “Hours or pay reduced” and To delay 

retirement to complete plan? In what way does that kind of gibberish amount to a “reason” for 

debtors not having to pay their debts to their creditors? 

19. Given that a PACER query about Trustee Reiber ran on April 2, 2004, returned the statement 

that he was trustee in 3,909 open cases! -3,907 before Judge Ninfo-, how can he be sure that he 

remembers correctly whatever it was that he meant when he made such jottings, that is, 

assuming that it was he and not the “I/We…” who made them?; but if the latter, then there is no 

way for the Trustee to know with certainty what the “I/We…” meant with those jottings. It is 

perfunctory per se for the Trustee to submit to a court a scrap paper that is intrinsically so 

ambiguous that the court cannot objectively ascertain its precise meaning among possible ones. 

  √  To pay back creditors as much as possible in 3yrs prior to retirement 

20. If the DeLanos were really interested in paying back all they could, then they would have 

provided for the plan to last, not the minimum duration of three years under §1325(b)(1)(A), but 

rather the longer period of five years…or they would not retire until they paid back what they 

borrowed on the explicit or implicit promise that they would repay it. And they would have 
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planned to pay more than just $635. 

 $4,886.50  projected monthly income (Schedule I) 
 -1,129.00  presumably after Mrs. DeLano’s unemployment benefits ran out in 6/04 (Sch. I) 
 $3,757.50  net monthly income 
 -2,946.50  for the very comfortable current expenditures (Sch. J) of a couple with no dependents 
 $811.00  actual disposable income 

21. Yet, the DeLanos plan to pay creditors only $635.00 per month for 25 months, the great bulk of 

the 36 months of the repayment period. By keeping the balance of $176 per month = $811 – 

635, they withhold from creditors an extra $4,400 = $176 x 25. No explanation is given for this 

…although these objections were raised by Dr. Cordero in his written objections of March 4, 

2004, ¶¶7-8. Did Trustee Reiber consider those objections as anything more than an insignificant 

nuisance and, if so, how could he be so sure that Judge Ninfo would consider them likewise? 

  √  To cram down secured liens  

22. What is the total of those secured liens and in what way do they provide a “reason” for filing a 

bankruptcy petition? 

  √  Children’s college expenses pre-1990 when wages reduced $50,000 →19-000 

23. The DeLanos’ children, Jennifer and Michael, went for two years each to obtain associate 

degrees from the in-state low-tuition Monroe Community College, a local institution relative to 

the DeLanos’ residence, which means that their children most likely resided and ate at home 

while studying there and did not incur the expense of long distance traveling between home and 

college. The fact is that whoever wrote that third scrap paper did not check “Student loans”. So, 

what “college expenses” are being considered here? Moreover, according to that jotting, whatever 

those “college expenses” are, they were incurred “pre-1990”. Given that such listed “reasons” as, 

“Medical problems”, “To stop creditor harassment”, “Overspending” and “Protect debtor’s property” were 

not checked, how can those “college expenses” have caused the DeLanos to go bankrupt 15 years 

later? This is one of the most untenable and ridiculous “reasons” for explaining a bankruptcy… 

24. …until one reaches the bottom of that scrap paper and, just as at the top, there is no reference to 

any Official Bankruptcy Form; no citation to any provision of the Bankruptcy Code or the 

FRBkrP from which this list of “reasons” was extracted; no reference to any document where the 

“reasons” checked were quantified in dollar terms and their impact on the DeLanos’ income was cal-

culated so that the numerical result would lead to the conclusion that they were entitled under 

law to avoid paying their creditors 78¢ on the dollar and interest at the delinquent rate of over 25% 
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per year. So, on the basis of what calculations in this scrap paper or why in spite of their absence 

did Judge Ninfo conclude that the DeLanos’ plan “meets the best interest test”? (¶4 above) 

25. Nor is there any reference to a document explaining in what imaginable way, for example, 

“Matrimonial” is a “reason” for anything, let alone for filing for bankruptcy; or how “Reconstruct 

credit rating” is such an intuitive “reason” for filing for bankruptcy because then your credit rating in 

credit bureau reports will go up. There is no reference either to a rule describing the mechanism 

whereby “Student loans” are such a “reason” despite the fact that 11 U.S.C. provides thus: 

§523. Exceptions to discharge  
(a) A discharge under section…1328(b) of this title does not discharge 

an individual debtor from any debt-…(8) for an education benefit 
overpayment or loan made… 

26. The lack of grammatical parallelism among the entries on that list is most striking. So the first 

“reason” appears to be the subordinate clause of the subordinating clause that will be used as an 

implicit refrain to introduce every “reason” and thereby give the list semantic as well as syntactic 

consistency: “I/We filed…” because: (I/We omitted but implicit) “Lost employment”. However, the 

second “reason” does not fit this pattern: “I/We filed…” because: “Hours or pay reduced”. The next 

reason is expressed by an adjective, “Matrimonial”, while the following one is a noun 

“Garnishments”. A “reason” is set forth with a gerund, “Overspending”, but others are stated with 

the bare infinitive, “Protect debtor’s property”, whereas others use to-infinitive, “To receive a 

Chapter 13 discharge” (which by the way, is a particularly enlightening “reason”, for is that not the 

result aimed at when invoking any other “reason”?). What a mishmash of grammatical 

constructions! They not only render the list inelegant, but also jar its reading and make its 

comprehension more difficult. Who bungled that form? Was it approved by any of the U.S. 

trustees? How many plans has Judge Ninfo confirmed based on it? It was not made specifically 

for the DeLanos, was it? Is there a financial motive for confirming plans no matter what?  

27. The grammar of the “reasons” is not the only bungled feature in this form. In addition, it lacks a 

caption. Then the sentence that introduces the “reasons” is written in broken English: “I/We filed 

Chapter 13 for one or more of the following reasons:” What substandard command of the English 

language must one have not just to say, but also to write in a form presumably to be used time 

and again and even be submitted formally to a court: ‘You filed Chapter 13….’  

28. If you were sure, positive, dead certain that your decision was going to be circulated to, and read 

by, all your peers and hierarchical superiors and even be made publicly available for close 

scrutiny, would you fill out an order form thus?: “The respondents filed Chapter 13 and win ‘cause 
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they ain’t have no money but in the truth they don wanna pluck from their stash and they linked up 

with their buddies that they are buddies with’em after cookin’ a tons of cases to stiff the creditor 

dupe that his and they keep all dough in all respects denied for the other yo.” (Completing the order 

form in handwriting would give it a touch of flair…in pencil, for that would show…no, no! 

better still, in crayon, shocking pink! It is bound not only to catch the attention of all the peers, 

so jaded by run-of-the-mill judicial misconduct, but also illustrate to the FBI and DoJ attorneys 

how sloppiness can be so incriminating by betraying overconfidence grown out of routine 

participation in a pattern of unchecked wrongdoing and by laying bare utter contempt for the 

law, the rules, and the facts while showing no concern for even the appearance of impartiality.) 

29. Still worse, the third scrap paper is neither initialized nor signed; of course, it bears no address 

or telephone number. So who on earth is responsible for its contents? (cf. E:263) And as of what 

date, for it is not dated either. For such scrap paper, this is what the rules provide: 

FRBkrP 9011. Signing of Papers; Representations to the Court; Sanctions; 
Verification and Copies of Papers 

(a) Signing of papers 
Every petition, pleading, written motion, and other paper, except a list, 

schedule or statement, or amendments thereto, shall be signed by at 
least one attorney of record in the attorney’s individual name. A party who 
is not represented by an attorney shall sign all papers. Each paper shall 
state the signer’s address and telephone number, if any. An unsigned 
paper shall be stricken unless omission of the signature is corrected 
promptly after being called to the attention of the attorney or party. 
(emphasis added) 

30. To the extent that this third scrap of paper is a list that need not be signed by an attorney, the 

Advisory Committee Notes to Rule 9011, Subdivision (a) states that “Rule 1008 requires that 

these documents be verified by the debtor.” Rule 1008 includes “All…lists” and Rule 9011(e) 

explains how the debtor verifies them: “an unsworn declaration as provided in 28 U.S.C. §1746 

satisfies the requirement of verification”. What §1746 provides is that ‘the declarant must “in writing” 

subscribe the matter with a declaration in substantially the form “I declare under penalty of perjury 

that the foregoing is true and correct. Executed on (date)”’. 
31. The shockingly unprofessional and perfunctory nature of Trustee Reiber’s three-piece scrap 

papers can also be established under Local Rule 10 of the District Court, WDNY, requiring that 
“All text…in…memoranda and other papers shall be plainly and legibly…typewritten…without erasures 

or interlineations materially defacing them,…signed…and the name, address and telephone number of 

each attorney or litigant …shall be…thereon. All papers shall be dated.” 
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II. Judge Ninfo confirmed the DeLanos’ plan by stating that the 
Trustee had completed the investigation of the allegations of 
their fraud and cleared them; yet, he had the evidence 
showing that the Trustee had conducted no such investigation 

32. Judge Ninfo confirmed the DeLanos’ plan in his Order of August 9, 2005 (E:275). Therein he 

stated that he “has considered…the Trustee’s Report”, which is a reference to Trustee Reiber’s 

three scrap papers since it is the only document that the Trustee filed aside from what the Judge 

himself referred to as the Trustee’s “statement”. Indeed, the docket entry (¶2 above) states: 

The Court found that the…Trustee completed his investigation of 
allegations of bankruptcy fraud and found there to be none. The Trustee 
read a statement into the record regarding his investigation. 

33. However, what page 2 of Trustee Reiber’s scrap papers (E:272) states is this: 

7. Objections to Confirmation: Trustee – disposable income – 
1) I.R.A. available; 2) loan payment available; 
3) pension loan ends 10/05. 

34. There is nothing about Dr. Cordero’s objections to the DeLanos’ bankruptcy fraud! No mention 

of his charge that they have concealed assets. Nothing anywhere else in the Trustee’s scrap 

papers concerning any investigation of anything. Nevertheless, in “9. Other comments:”, there is, 

apart from another very unprofessional double strikethrough ”1) Best Interest -$1255;” 

”Attorney fees”. At the bottom of the page is written: “ATTORNEY’S FEES” $    1350     and, 

below that, “Additional fees   Yes”   $16,655. The itemized invoice for legal fees billed by Att. 

Werner shows that those fees have been incurred almost exclusively in connection with Dr. 

Cordero’s request for documents and the DeLanos’ efforts to avoid producing them, beginning 

with the entry on April 8, 2004 “Call with client; Correspondence re Cordero objection” (E:279) and 

ending with that on June 23, 2005 “(Estimated) Cordero appeal” (E:282). 

A. Judge Ninfo knew since learning it in open court on March 8, 2004, that 
Trustee Reiber had approved the DeLanos’ petition without minding its 
suspicious declarations or asking for supporting documents and opposed 
every effort by Dr. Cordero to investigate or examine the DeLanos 

35. Although Trustee Reiber was ready to submit the DeLanos’ debt repayment plan to Judge Ninfo 

for confirmation on March 8, 2004, he could not do so precisely because of Dr. Cordero’s 

objections of March 4, 2004 and his invocation of the Trustee’s duty under 11 U.S.C. §704(4) 

and (7) to investigate the debtor. Since then and only at Dr. Cordero’s instigation, the Trustee, 
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who is supposed to represent unsecured creditors (¶11 above), such as Dr. Cordero, has 

pretended to have been investigating the DeLanos on the basis of those objections. 

36. Yet, any competent and genuine representative of adversarial interests, as are those of creditors 

and debtors, would have found it inherently suspicious that Mr. DeLano, a banker for 32 years 

currently handling the bankruptcies of clients of M&T Bank, had gone himself bankrupt: He 

would be deemed to have learned how to manage his own money as well as how to play the 

bankruptcy system. Suspicion about the DeLanos’ bankruptcy would have been provided the 

solid foundation of documentary evidence in their Schedule B, where they declared having only 

$535 in cash and account despite having earned $291,470 in just the immediately preceding 

three years yet declaring nothing but $2,910 in household goods, while stating in Schedule F a 

whopping credit card debt of $98,092! Where did the money go or is? 

37. That common sense question would not pop up before Trustee Reiber. He accepted the 

DeLanos’ petition, filed on January 27, 2004, without asking for a single supporting document. 

He only pretended to be investigating the DeLanos but without showing anything for it. Only 

after being confronted point blank with that pretension by Dr. Cordero, did the Trustee for the 

first time request documents from the DeLanos on April 20, 2004…in a pro forma request, for 

he would not ask them for the key documents that would have shown their in- and outflow of 

money, namely, the statements of their checking and savings accounts. Moreover, he showed no 

interest in obtaining even the documents concerned by his pro forma request upon the DeLanos 

failing to produce them. When at Dr. Cordero’s insistence the Trustee wrote to them again, it 

was on May 18, 2004, just to ask for a “progress” report.  

38. So incapable and ineffective did Trustee Reiber prove to be in his alleged investigation of the 

DeLanos that on July 9, 2004, Dr. Cordero moved Judge Ninfo in writing to remove the Trustee. 

Dr. Cordero pointed out the conflict of interests that the Trustee faced due to the request that he: 

investigate the DeLanos by requesting, obtaining, and analyzing such 
documents, which can show that the petition that he so approved and 
readied [for confirmation by Judge Ninfo on March 8, 2004] is in fact a 
vehicle of fraud to avoid payment of claims. If Trustee Reiber made such 
a negative showing, he would indict his own and his agent-attorney 
[Weidman]’s working methods, good judgment, and motives. That could 
have devastating consequences [under 11 U.S.C. §324(b)]. To begin 
with, if a case not only meritless, but also as patently suspicious as the 
DeLanos’ passed muster with both Trustee Reiber and his attorney, what 
about the Trustee’s [3,908] other cases? Answering this question would 
trigger a check of at least randomly chosen cases, which could lead to his 
and his agent-attorney’s suspension and removal. It is reasonable to 
assume that the Trustee would prefer to avoid such consequences. To 
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that end, he would steer his investigation to the foregone conclusion that 
the petition was filed in good faith. Thereby he would have turned the 
“investigation” from its inception into a sham! 

39. So it turned out to be: a sham. At Dr. Cordero’s insistence, the DeLanos produced documents, 

including Equifax credit bureau reports for each of them, but only to the Trustee. The latter sent 

Dr. Cordero a copy on June 16, 2004. However, he took no issue with the DeLanos when Dr. 

Cordero showed that those were token documents and were even missing pages! Indeed, the 

Trustee had requested pro forma on April 20, the production of the credit card statements for the 

last 36 months of each of only 8 accounts, even though the DeLanos had listed in Schedule F 18 

credit card accounts on which they had piled up that staggering debt of $98,092. As a result, 

they were supposed to produce 288 statements (36 x 8). Nevertheless, the Trustee satisfied 

himself with the mere 8 statements that they produced, a single one for each of the 8 accounts!  

40. Moreover, the DeLanos had claimed 15 times in Schedule F of their petition that their financial 

troubles had begun with “1990 and prior credit card purchases”. That opened the door for the 

Trustee to request them to produce monthly credit card statements since at least 1989, that is, for 

15 years. But in his pro forma request he asked for those of only the last 3 years. Even so, the 8 

token statements that the DeLanos produced were between 8 and 11 months old!…insufficient to 

determine their earnings outflow or to identify their assets, but enough to show that they keep 

monthly statements for a long time and thus, that they had current ones but were concealing them.  

41. Instead of becoming suspicious, the Trustee accepted the DeLanos’ implausible excuse that they 

did not possess those statements and had to request them from the credit card issuers. His reply 

was that he was just “unhappy to learn that the credit card companies are not cooperating with your 

clients in producing the statements requested”, as he put it in his letter of June 16, 2004, to Att. 

Werner…but not unhappy enough to ask them to produce statements that they indisputably had, 

namely, those of their checking and savings accounts. Far from it, the Trustee again refused to 

request them, and what is more, expressly refused in his letter of June 15, 2004, to Dr. Cordero 

the latter’s request that he use subpoenas to obtain documents from them.  

42. Yet, the DeLanos had the obligation under §521(3) and (4) “to surrender to the trustee…any 

recorded information…”, an obligation so strong that it remains in force “whether or not immunity is 

granted under section 344 of this title”. Instead, the Trustee allowed them to violate that obligation 

then and since then given that to date they have not produced all the documents covered by even 

his pro forma request of April 20, 2004. The DeLanos had no more interest in producing 

incriminating documents that could lead to their concealed assets than the Trustee had in 
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obtaining those that could lead to his being investigated. They were part of the same sham! 

43. But not just any sham, rather one carried out in all confidence, for by now Trustee Reiber has 

worked with Judge Ninfo on well over 3,907 cases (¶19 above). Presumably many are within 

the scope of the bankruptcy fraud scheme given that it is all but certain that DeLano is not the 

first case that they, had they always been conscientious officers, all of a sudden decided to deal 

with by coordinating their actions to intentionally disregard the law, the rules, and the facts for 

the sake of the DeLanos, who in that case would have something so powerful on them as to 

cause them to violate the law. In any event, one violation is one too many. Actually, what they 

have on each other is knowledge of their long series of unlawful acts forming a pattern of 

wrongdoing. Now, nobody can turn against the other for fear that he or she will be treated in 

kind. Either they stick together or they fall one after the other.  

44. Consequently, Trustee Reiber did not have to consider for a second that upon Dr. Cordero’s motions 

of July 9 and August 14, 2004, Judge Ninfo would remove him from DeLano under §324(a). 

That would have entailed his automatic removal as trustee from all other cases under §324(b), 

and thereby his termination as trustee. Since that would and will not happen, the Trustee did not 

file even a scrap paper to state pro forma that he opposed the motions. Revealingly enough, he is 

not concerned either that District Judge David Larimer may remove him upon Dr. Cordero’s 

motion of July 13, 2005. Hence he has not wasted time scribbling anything in opposition.  

45. Not only he, but also Reporter Dianetti has not considered it necessary to waste any effort in the 

formality of opposing Dr. Cordero’ motion of July 18 requesting that Judge Larimer designate 

another individual to prepare the transcript of her recording of the March 1 evidentiary hearing. 

Yet, all they needed to do was as cursory a gesture as Att. Werner’s two conclusory sentences 

(E:332) to oppose Dr. Cordero’s July 13 motion to stay the confirmation hearing…and a cover 

letter addressed directly to Judge Larimer to show him ingratiating deference (E:331).  

46. Can you imagine either the Trustee or the Reporter reacting with such indifference to motions 

that can cost them their livelihood or Att. Werner skipping any legal argument and slipping in a 

mere courtesy note had this case been transferred to another court, such as that in Albany, 

NDNY, where they did not know the judge and could not tell on him? Of course not, they could 

lose the motions by default! But they have nothing to worry about, for Judge Larimer has not 

decided any of the four motions of Dr. Cordero pending before him, even one as far back as 

June 20 to link to this case Pfuntner v. Trustee Kenneth Gordon et at., docket no. 02-2230, 

WBNY, which gave rise to Dr. Cordero’s claim against Mr. DeLano. (P.E:43; P.¶34))  
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47. What a contrast with the celerity with which Judge Larimer reacted when the Bankruptcy Clerk, 

disregarding FRBkrP 8007, forwarded to him upon receipt on April 21, Dr. Cordero’s 

designation of items on appeal and a copy of his first letter of April 18 to Reporter Dianetti to 

make arrangements for the transcript. Though the record was legally incomplete, lacking the 

transcript and the appellee’s designation of additional items and any issues on cross appeal, 

immediately the following day, April 22, Judge Larimer issued a scheduling order requiring Dr. 

Cordero to file his appellate brief 20 days hence, knowing full well that the date of the Reporter’s 

completion of the transcript was nowhere in sight so that his order would effectively prevent Dr. 

Cordero from using it when writing his brief. (P.§III¶36 et seq.). Could it not be in Judge Lari-

mer’s interest to decide any of those motions, thereby exposing not only this case and the sham 

investigation, but the bankruptcy fraud scheme itself to scrutiny by circuit judges and justices? 

B. The sham character of Trustee Reiber’s pro forma request for documents and 
the DeLanos’ token production is confirmed by the charade of a §341 meeting 
through which the Trustee has allowed the DeLanos not to account for 
hundreds of thousands of dollars obtained through a string of mortgages 

48. Trustee Reiber has allowed the DeLanos to produce token documents in connection with one of 

the most incriminating elements of their petition: their concealment of mortgage proceeds. 

Indeed, they declared in Schedule A that their home at 1262 Shoecraft Road in Webster, NY, was 

appraised at $98,500. However, they still owe on it $77,084.49. One need not be a trustee, let 

alone a competent one, to realize how suspicious it is that two debtors approaching retirement 

have gone through their working lives and have nothing to show for it but equity of $21,415 in 

the very same home that they bought 30 years ago! Yet, they earned $291,470 in just the 2001-

03 fiscal years. Have the DeLanos stashed away their money in a golden pot at the end of their 

working life rainbow? Is the Trustee afraid of scooping gold out of the pot lest he may so rattle 

Mr. DeLano’s rainbow, which arches his 32-year career as a banker, as to cause Mr. DeLano to 

paint in the open for everybody to see all sorts of colored abuses of bankruptcy law that he has 

seen committed by colluding debtors, trustees, and judicial officers? 

49. The fact is that despite Dr. Cordero’s protest, both Trustee Reiber ratified and Judge Ninfo 

condoned the unlawful termination by Att. Weidman of the §341 meeting of creditors on March 

8, 2004, where the DeLanos would have had to answer under oath the questions of Dr. Cordero, 

who was the only creditor present but was thus cut off after asking only two questions. Then it was 

for the Trustee to engage in his reluctant pro forma request for documents. When Dr. Cordero 
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moved for his removal on July 9, 2004 (¶38 above), he also submitted to Judge Ninfo his analysis 

of the token documents produced by the DeLanos and showed on the basis of such documentary 

evidence how they had engaged in bankruptcy fraud, particularly concealment of assets. 

Thereupon an artifice was concocted to eliminate him from the case altogether: The DeLanos 

moved to disallow his claim, knowing that Judge Ninfo would disregard the fact, among others, 

that such a motion was barred by laches and untimely. Not only did the Judge permit the motion 

to proceed, but he also barred any other proceeding unrelated to its consideration. 

50. From then on, Trustee Reiber pretended that he too was barred from holding a §341 meeting of 

creditors in order to deny Dr. Cordero’s request that such meeting be held so that he could 

examine the DeLanos under oath. Dr. Cordero confronted not only the Trustee, but also his 

supervisors, Assistant U.S. Trustee Kathleen Dunivin Schmitt and U.S. Trustee for Region 2 

Dierdre A. Martini, with the independent duty under §§341 and 343 as well as FRBkrP 2004(b) 

for members of the Executive Branch to hold that meeting regardless of any action taken by a 

member of the Judicial Branch. Neither supervisor replied. Eventually Trustee Reiber relented, 

but refused to assure him that the meeting would not be limited to one hour. Dr. Cordero had to 

argue again that neither Trustee Reiber nor his supervisors had any basis in law to impose such 

arbitrary time limit given that §341 provides for an indefinite number of meetings. In his letter 

of December 30, 2004 (E:283), he backed down from that limit.  

51. Finally, the meeting was held on February 1, 2005, at Trustee Reiber’s office. It was recorded 

by a contract stenographer. The DeLanos were accompanied by Att. Werner. The Trustee 

allowed the Attorney, despite Dr. Cordero’s protest, unlawfully to micromanage the meeting, 

intervening at will constantly and even threatening to walk out with the DeLanos if Dr. Cordero 

did not ask questions at the pace and in the format that he, Att. Werner, dictated.  

52. Nevertheless, Dr. Cordero managed to point out the incongruities in the DeLanos’ statements 

about their mortgages and credit card use. He requested a title search and a financial 

examination by an accounting firm that would produce a chronologically unbroken report on the 

DeLanos’ title to real estate and use of credit cards. However, the Trustee refused to do so and 

again requested pro forma only some mortgage papers. Although the DeLanos admitted that they 

had them at home, the Trustee allowed them two weeks for their production…and still they failed to 

produce them by the end of that period.  

53. Dr. Cordero had to ask Trustee Reiber to compel the DeLanos to comply with the Trustee’s own pro 

forma request. They produced incomplete documents (E:285-297) once more (¶39 above) because 
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Att. Werner made available only what he self-servingly considered “the relevant portion” of those 

documents (E:284). Dr. Cordero analyzed them in his letter of February 22, 2005, to the Trustee 

(E:29) with copy to his supervisors, Trustees Schmitt and Martini, who never replied. But even 

incomplete, those documents raise more and graver questions than they answer, for they show 

an even longer series of mortgages relating to the same home at 1262 Shoecraft Road: 

Mortgage referred to in the incomplete documents 
produced by the DeLanos to Trustee Reiber 

Exhibit page 
# 

Amounts of 
the mortgages 

1) took out a mortgage for $26,000 in 1975; E:285 [D:342] $26,000 

2) another for $7,467 in 1977; E:286 [D:343] 7,467 

3) still another for $59,000 in 1988; as well as E:289 [D:346] 59,000 

4) an overdraft from ONONDAGA Bank for $59,000 and E:298 [D:176] 59,000 

5) owed $59,000 to M&T in 1988; E:298 [D:176] 59,000 

6) another mortgage for $29,800 in 1990, E:291 [D:348] 29,800 

7) even another one for $46,920 in 1993, and E:292 [D:349] 46,920 

8) yet another for $95,000 in 1999. E:293 [D:350] 95,000 

 Total $382,187.00
 

54. The whereabouts of that $382,187 are unknown. On the contrary, Att. Werner’s letter of 

February 16, 2005 (E:284), accompanying those incomplete documents adds more unknowns:  

It appears that the 1999 refinance paid off the existing M&T first mortgage 
and home equity mortgage and provided cash proceeds of $18, 746.69 to Mr. 
and Mrs. DeLano. Of this cash, $11,000.00 was used for the purchase of an 
automobile, as indicated. Mr. DeLano indicates that the balance of the cash 
proceeds was used for payment of outstanding debts, debt service and 
miscellaneous personal expenses. He does not believe that he has any 
details in this regard, as this transaction occurred almost six (6) years ago. 

55. So after that 1999 refinancing, the DeLanos had clear title to their home and even money for a 

car and other expenses, presumably credit card purchases and debt service. But only 5 years 

later, they owed $77,084.49 on their home, $98,092.91 on credit cards, and $10,285 on a 1998 

Chevrolet Blazer (Schedule D), not to mention the $291,470 earned in 2001-03 that is nowhere 

to be seen…and owing all that money just before retirement is only “details” that a career banker 

for 32 years “does not believe that he has”. Mindboggling!  

56. Although Dr. Cordero identified these incongruous elements (E:300-302) in the petition and 

documents, the Trustee had nothing more insightful to write to Att. Werner than “I note that the 

1988 mortgage to Columbia, which later ended up with the government, is not discharged of record or men-

rep:57



C:1144 Dr. Cordero’s petition supplement of 8/30/5 to J Conf.: debtor’s plan confirmed as part of bkr fraud scheme 

tioned in any way, shape, or form concerning a payoff. What ever happened to that mortgage?” (E:306) 

57. To that pro forma question Att. Werner produced some documents to the Trustee on March 10, 

2005 (E:307), but not to Dr. Cordero, who he could be sure would analyze them. Dr. Cordero 

protested to Att. Werner and the Trustee for not having been served (E:308). When Att. Werner 

belatedly served him (E:309), it became apparent why he had tried to withhold the documents 

(E:310-323) from him: They were printouts of pages from the website of the Monroe County 

Clerk’s Office that had neither beginning nor ending dates of a transaction, nor transaction amounts, 

nor property location, nor current status, nor reference to the involvement of the U.S. Department of 

Housing and Urban Development . What a pretense on the part of both Att. Werner and Trustee 

Reiber! No wonder Dr. Cordero’s letter of March 29 analyzing those printouts and their impli-

cations (E:324) has gone unanswered by Trustees Reiber, Schmitt, and Martini (E:327-330).   

58. As a result, hundreds of thousands of dollars received by the DeLanos during 30 years are 

unaccounted for, as are the $291,470 earned in the 2001-03 period, over $670,000!, because 

Trustee Reiber evaded his duty under §704(4) and (7) to investigate the debtors by requiring 

them to explain their suspicious declarations and provide supporting documents. Not coinci-

dentally, when on February 16, 2005, Dr. Cordero asked Trustee Reiber for a copy of the transcript of 

the February 1 meeting, he alleged that Dr. Cordero would have to buy it from the stenographer 

because she had the rights to it! Yet she created nothing and simply produced work for hire. 

59. The evidence indicates that since that meeting on February 1 till the confirmation hearing on July 

25, 2005, Trustee Reiber never intended to obtain from the DeLanos any documents to answer his 

pro forma question about one undischarged mortgage; they did not serve on Dr. Cordero any such 

documents even though under §704(7) he is still a party in interest entitled to information; and the 

Trustee neither introduced them into evidence at that hearing nor made any reference to them in the 

scrap papers of his “Report”. Do they fear that those documents will reveal conceal assets? 

C. The affirmation by both Judge Ninfo and Trustee Reiber that the DeLanos 
were investigated for fraud is contrary to the evidence available and lacks the 
supporting evidence that would necessarily result from an investigation so 
that it was an affirmation made with reckless disregard for the truth 

60. Judge Ninfo disregarded the evidence that Trustee Reiber never requested a single supporting 

document from the DeLanos before Dr. Cordero asked that they be investigated and thereafter 

always avoided investigating them, making pro forma requests and satisfying himself with token 

documents, if any was produced. The Judge disregarded the incriminating evidence in those docu-
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ments and the Trustee’s conflict of interests between dutifully investigating the DeLanos and 

ending up being investigated himself. Instead, he accepted the Trustee’s “Report” although it 

neither lists Dr. Cordero’s objections nor mentions any investigation, much less any findings. In 

so doing, he showed his unwillingness to recognize or incapacity to notice how suspicious it was 

that an investigation that the Trustee had supposedly conducted over 16 months had not registered 

even a blip in that “Report”. By contrast, the Judge was willing to notice the air exhaled by 

Trustee Reiber reading his statement into the record despite his failure to file any documents 

attesting to any investigation. He even allowed the Trustee’s ruse of not filing even that statement 

so as to avoid making it available in the docket, thus requiring the expensive, time consuming, and 

tamper-susceptible alternative of asking for a transcript from Reporter Dianetti (E:9-11; P.§II).  

61. Nor did the Judge draw the obvious inference that the same person who produced such damning 

evidence of his unprofessional and perfunctory work in his scrap paper “Report” was the one who 

would have conducted the investigation and, thus, would have investigated to the same dismal 

substandard of performance. Therefore, common sense and good judgment required that the 

Trustee’s investigation be reviewed as to its contents, method, and conclusions. No such review 

took place, which impugns Judge Ninfo’s discretion in rushing to clear the DeLanos from, as he 

put it, any “allegations (the evidence notwithstanding) of bankruptcy fraud”. 

62. The documentary and circumstantial evidence justifies the conclusion that Trustee Reiber and 

Judge Ninfo have engaged with others in a pattern of non-coincidental, intentional, and 

coordinated acts of wrongdoing, including a sham bankruptcy fraud investigation, the process-

abusive artifice of a motion to disallow Dr. Cordero’s claim, and the charade of the meeting of 

creditors to appease Dr. Cordero and feign compliance with §341. In disregard of the law, the 

rules, and the facts, they began with the prejudgment and ended with the foregone conclusion 

that the DeLanos had filed a good faith petition and that their Chapter 13 plan should be confirmed. 

They confirmed the plan without investigating the DeLanos as the surest way of forestalling a 

finding of the DeLanos having filed a fraudulent petition, which would have led to their being 

criminally charged, which in turn would have induced Mr. DeLano to enter into a plea bargain 

whereby he would provide incriminating testimony of participation in a bankruptcy fraud scheme.  

63. It follows that insofar as Trustee Reiber made the untrue statement that “The Trustee completed 

his investigation of allegations of bankruptcy fraud and found there to be none” in order to induce the 

Bankruptcy Court to confirm the DeLanos’ plan and to escape his own conflict of interests (¶38 

above), the Trustee perjured himself and practiced, to secure a benefit for himself, fraud on the 
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Court as an institution even if Judge Ninfo knew that his statement was not true; as well as fraud 

on Dr. Cordero, to whom he knowingly caused the loss of rights as a creditor of the DeLanos. 

64. It also follows that insofar as Judge Ninfo knew or by carrying out his judicial functions with 

due diligence and impartiality would have known, that Trustee Reiber had conducted no 

investigation or that the DeLanos had not filed or supported their petition in good faith, but 

nevertheless reported the Trustee’s statement to the contrary and stated that “The Court found that 

the Plan was proposed in good faith” in order to confirm their plan, the Judge suborned perjury and 

practiced fraud on the Court as an institution and on Dr. Cordero, whom he thereby knowingly 

denied due process. In so doing, the Judge and the Trustee have caused Dr. Cordero the loss of 

an enormous amount of effort, time, and money and inflicted on him tremendous emotional distress. 

III. Request for Relief 

65. Therefore, Dr. Cordero respectfully requests that the Judicial Conference: 

a) Under 28 U.S.C. §753 investigate Reporter Dianetti’s refusal to certify the reliability of the 

transcript of her own recording of the evidentiary hearing at the Bankruptcy Court, WBNY, in 

DeLano on March 1, 2005, and designate another individual to prepare such transcript; 

b) Under §331 investigate how the integrity of judicial and other court officers and of judicial 

process has been compromised in WDNY by participation in a bankruptcy fraud scheme;  

c) As part of that investigation, review, among other things, 1) the tape recording of the meeting of 

creditors in DeLano held on March 8, 2004, in the Office of the U.S. Trustee in Rochester and 

conducted by Trustee Reiber’s attorney, James Weidman, Esq.; 2) the tape recording and the 

transcript of the meeting of creditors in DeLano held on February 1, 2005, in Trustee 

Reiber’s office; 3) the documents reviewed by Trustee Reiber in his DeLano investigation; 4) the 

statement read into the record by Trustee Reiber at the confirmation hearing of the DeLanos’ plan 

held in the Bankruptcy Court on July 25, 2005, and the transcript of that hearing; and 

d) Under 18 U.S.C. §3057(a) refer DeLano and Pfuntner to Attorney General Alberto Gonzales for 

investigation by U.S. attorneys and FBI agents other than those from Rochester (where the DoJ 

office is the next-door neighbor of the Office of the U.S. Trustee) or Buffalo, NY. 

 

Dated:        August 30, 2005    
59 Crescent Street Dr. Richard Cordero  
Brooklyn, NY 11208 tel. (718) 827-9521 
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to the Judicial Conference of the United States, 

showing how a court reporter’s refusal to certify the reliability  
of her transcript forms part of a bankruptcy fraud scheme 

by 
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more of the following reasons:” ......................................................................................273 [C:1054] 
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Trustee Reiber’s Report ...........................................................................................................275 [C:1056] 
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33. Application of July 7, 2005, by Christopher K. Werner, Esq., attorney for the 
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rendered to the DeLanos ............................................................................................279 [C:1060] 

34. Trustee Reiber’s letter of December 30, 2004, to Dr. Cordero confirming 
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1, 2005, at his office on South Winton Court, Rochester ...................................................283 [D•:333] 
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February 16, 2005, to Trustee Reiber accompanying the following 
incomplete documents described as “relevant portion of Mr. and Mrs. 
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New York ......................................................................................................................287 [D:344] 
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Side Shoecraft Road, Town of Penfield” ........................................................................288 [D:345] 
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Road, Town of Penfield” .................................................................................................294 [D:351] 
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Mr. DeLano is a third-party defendant who was brought into Pfuntner by Dr. Cordero. 
Subsequently, he filed for bankruptcy and included Dr. Cordero among his creditors because of 
the latter’s claim against Mr. DeLano arising from Pfuntner. 
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the accompanying supplement and the July 28 petition under 28 U.S.C. §753(c) 

for investigation of a court reporter’s refusal to certify the reliability of her transcript and  

its link to a bankruptcy fraud scheme♦ 

by 

Dr. Richard Cordero 
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3. Boggs C.J. Danny J. Boggs, In care of: U.S. Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit 

4. Davison C.J. Glen H. Davison, In care of: U.S. District Court, Northern D. of Mississippi 

5. Edmondson C.J. J. L. Edmondson, In care of: U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit 

6. Ezra C.J. David Alan Ezra, In care of: U.S. District Court for the District of Hawaii 
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12. Michael C.J. Paul R. Michael, In care of: U.S. Court Appeals for the Federal Circuit 

13. Mukasey C.J. Michael B. Mukasey, In care of: U.S. District Court, SDNY 

14. Norton J. David C. Norton, In care of: U.S. District Court for the District of South Carolina 

15. Rehnquist Mr. Chief Justice William Rehnquist, In care of: Supreme Court of the United States 

16. Restani C.J. Jane A. Restani, In care of: U.S. Court of International Trade 

17. Rosenbaum C.J. James M. Rosenbaum, In care of: U.S. District Court for the D. of Minnesota 
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♦ See full addresses on the List of Conference members to whom was sent the July 28 petition, at C:1115. 
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Dr. Richard Cordero 
Ph.D., University of Cambridge, England  59 Crescent Street 
M.B.A., University of Michigan Business School   Brooklyn, NY 11208‐1515 
D.E.A., La Sorbonne, Paris  tel. (718) 827‐9521; CorderoRic@yahoo.com 

 
June 25, 2005 

Ms. Mary Dianetti 
612 South Lincoln Road 
East Rochester, NY 14445 [(585)586-6392] 
 

Re: transcript of the evidentiary hearing held on March 1, 2005, in the U.S. Bankruptcy 
Court in Rochester in the case of David and Mary Ann DeLano, docket no. 04-20280 

 
Dear Ms. Dianetti, 

 
Thank you for your letter of June 13, whose envelope was postmarked June 15 by the Fed-

eral Station in Rochester, the one situated in the Federal Building where the Bankruptcy Court is. 

I appreciate your stating the number of stenographic packs and folds in the recording of 
the above-captioned DeLano evidentiary hearing. I note that you stated that: 

Also, I am listing the number of stenographic packs and the number of folds in each 
pack and this is the same information that was give to you on the afternoon of the 
hearing as I had marked each pack with the number of folds within your view and am 
just giving you those exact numbers at this time. 

I assume that this does not mean that you are merely copying the information that you 
gave me on March 1 at the end of the hearing. Instead, I made what I meant you to state quite 
clear in my latest letter to you of May 26: 

[since] you necessarily had to count the number of stenographic packs and their 
folds to calculate the number of transcript pages and estimate the cost of the 
transcript…provide me with that count…Therefore… 

2. state the number of stenographic packs and the number of folds in each that 
comprise the whole recording of the evidentiary hearing and that will be 
translated into the transcript. 

I hope that you will realize that the way you have formulated your answer raises con-
cerns, coming as it does after your refusal to provide the requested information in your letters to 
me of May 3 and 19 despite my express requests in my letters to you of April 18 and May 10 and 
26. Yet, your answer makes providing that information appear as easy to do as simply copying it 
from your records, which conversely makes your refusal to provide it so difficult to understand. 

Consequently, to eliminate any margin whatsoever for divergence between my request 
for information and your answer, I take the latter to mean the following: 

1. Upon my initial and subsequent requests for you to state the cost of the transcript based 
on a count of the stenographic packs and folds of the whole recording of the DeLano 
evidentiary hearing, 

2. you actually counted them a second time; found the number of such packs and folds to 
coincide exactly with the number of packs and folds that you stated in writing for me at 
the end of such hearing; and 

3. based on that second count you calculated the cost of the transcript at the official and 
customarily charged rate of $3.30 per page; arrived at an estimate of between $600 and 
$650; have agreed with me that the final cost will not exceed $650; and will include in 
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the transcript everything and only that which is contained in those packs and folds. 

If my understanding of your answer diverges from either your intended answer or all the 
facts in any way that you consider to be significant or even insignificant, I formally request that 
you state such divergence. If you do not do so, I will assume your silence to confirm that my 
understanding as above stated coincides totally with both your intended answer and with all the 
facts. This statement of my understanding is as simple as the formulation that you have heard 
perhaps hundreds of times and that courts all over the nation assume every lay person 
understands and is in a position to affirm: your confirmation, whether in writing or by silence, is 
the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth. 

Hence, I hereby make your confirmation of my understanding part of the essence of this 
contract for service between you and me. Similarly, the following conditions are of the essence 
of this contract and constitute conditions precedent to my obligation to pay you: 

1. You will provide a transcript that is an accurate and complete written representation, with 
neither additions, deletions, omissions, nor other modifications, of the oral exchanges among 
the litigants, the witness, the judicial officers, and any other third parties that spoke at the 
DeLano evidentiary hearing. At my discretion and for the purpose, inter alia, of ascertaining 
such accuracy and completeness, you will make available, upon my designation, to a 
government agency or a private entity, all the packs and folds that you used to record the 
hearing and, if different, also those that you used to prepare the transcript. 

2. Upon completion of the transcript, you will simultaneously file one paper copy with the clerk 
of the bankruptcy court and mail to me by priority mail a paper copy together with an 
electronic copy on a floppy disk in PDF format and in Microsoft Word, or otherwise in Word 
Perfect; and you will not make available any copy in any format to any other party, whether a 
court officer –whether a judicial or clerical officer-, litigant, or any other person, but if you 
do make a copy available to any of them either before or after filing or mailing it to me, you 
will let me know immediately and will exempt me from payment and reimburse me any 
payment already made.  

3. You will truthfully state in your certificate accompanying the transcript that up to the time of 
your receipt of this letter and from then until the moment that the copies of the transcript are 
filed and mailed to me, you have not discussed with any other party (aside from me), whether 
a court officer, litigant, or any other person, and none of them has attempted to discuss with 
you, the content that should form part or that did form part of your stenographic recording of 
the DeLano evidentiary hearing or of the transcript; but if you have discussed such content or 
any of them has attempted to discuss it with you, then you will state their names, the 
circumstances and content of such discussions or attempt at such discussions, and their 
impact on the preparation of the transcript.  

In consideration for your promise to perform, and your actual performance of, your 
transcription service as described above and in accordance with applicable law and rules, I 
promise to pay you upon confirmation thereof up to $650, by credit card if acceptable to you, 
and in any event by check. 

I trust you realize that what we are trying to do here is exceedingly easy to understand and 
basic to any contractual agreement: You give me a good transcript and I pay you good money. 

Sincerely, 
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USEFUL ADDRESSES FOR THE INVESTIGATION 
of In re David and Mary Ann DeLano, no. 04-20280, WBNY 
and Pfuntner v. Trustee Gordon et al., no. 02-2230, WBNY 

 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
I. In re DeLano 

 
Ms. Mary Dianetti 
Bankruptcy Court Reporter 
612 South Lincoln Road 
East Rochester, NY 14445 

tel. (585)586-6392 
 

Christopher K. Werner, Esq. 
Attorney for the DeLanos 
Boylan, Brown, Code, Vigdor & Wilson, LLP 
2400 Chase Square 
Rochester, NY 14604 

tel. (585)232-5300; fax (585)232-3528 
 
David G. DeLano and Mary Ann DeLano 
1262 Shoecraft Road 
Webster, NY 14580 
 
Trustee George M. Reiber 
Chapter 13 Trustee 
South Winton Court 
3136 S. Winton Road 
Rochester, NY 14623 

tel. (585) 427-7225; fax (585)427-7804 
 

Kathleen Dunivin Schmitt, Esq. 
Assistant U.S. Trustee 
Office of the United States Trustee 
100 State Street, Room 6090 
Rochester, New York 14614 

tel. (585) 263-5812; fax (585) 263-5862 
 
Ms. Deirdre A. Martini 
U.S. Trustee for Region 2  
Office of the United States Trustee 
33 Whitehall Street, 21st Floor 
New York, NY 10004 

tel. (212) 510-0500; fax (212) 668-2255  

 II. Pfuntner v. Gordon et al.  
 
David D. MacKnight, Esq. 
Attorney for James Pfuntner 
Lacy, Katzen, Ryen & Mittleman, LLP 
130 East Main Street 
Rochester, New York 14604-1686 

tel. (585) 454-5650; fax (585) 454-6525 
 
Kenneth W. Gordon, Esq. 
Chapter 7 Trustee 
Gordon & Schaal, LLP 
100 Meridian Centre Blvd., Suite 120 
Rochester, New York 14618 

tel. (585) 244-1070; fax (585) 244-1085 
 
Mr. David Palmer  
1829 Middle Road 
Rush, New York 14543 
 
Michael J. Beyma, Esq. 
Attorney for M&T Bank and David DeLano 
Underberg & Kessler, LLP 
1800 Chase Square 
Rochester, NY 14604 

tel. (585) 258-2890; fax (585) 258-2821 
 
Manufacturers & Traders Trust Bank (cf. A:83§E) 
(M&T Bank) [Add:940] 
255 East Avenue 
Rochester, NY 

tel. (800) 724-8472 
 

Karl S. Essler, Esq. 
Attorney for David Dworkin and  

Jefferson Henrietta Associates 
Fix Spindelman Brovitz & Goldman, P.C. 
295 Woodcliff Drive, Suite 200 
Fairport, NY 14450 

tel. (585) 641-8000; fax (585) 641-8080
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[Sample of letters to Judicial Conference members] August 1, 2005 

Hon. Chief Judge Mary M. Schroeder 
As Member of the Judicial Conference of the U.S. 
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit 
Post Office Box 193939 
San Francisco, CA 94119-3939 
 
 
Dear Chief Judge Schroeder, 

I would like to bring to your attention the petition that I just submitted to the Conference 
for an investigation under 28 U.S.C. §753(c) of a court reporter’s refusal to certify the reliability 
of her transcript, which is yet another in a long series of acts of disregard for duty and legality 
stretching over more than three years and pointing to a bankruptcy fraud scheme and a cover up. 

Indeed, last March 1 the evidentiary hearing took place of the motion to disallow my 
claim in the bankruptcy case of David and Mary Ann DeLano. Bankruptcy Judge John C. Ninfo, II, 
WBNY, disallowed my claim against Mr. DeLano. Oddly enough, he is a 32-year veteran of the 
banking industry now specializing in bankruptcies at M&T Bank, who declared having only $535 in 
cash and account when filing for bankruptcy in January 2004, but earned in the 2001-03 period 
$291,470, whose whereabouts neither the Judge nor the trustees want to request that he account for.  

At the end of the hearing, I asked Reporter Mary Dianetti to count and write down the numbers 
of stenographic packs and folds that she had used, which she did. For my appeal from the disallow-
ance and as part of making arrangements for her transcript, I requested her to estimate its cost and 
state the numbers of packs and folds that she would use to produce it. As shown in exhibits pgs. 
E:1-11, she provided the estimate but on three occasions expressly declined to state those numbers. 
Her repeated failure to state numbers that she necessarily had counted and used to calculate her 
estimate was quite suspicious. So I requested that she agree to certify that the transcript would be 
complete and accurate, distributed only to the clerk and me, and free of tampering influence. 
However, she asked me to prepay and explicitly rejected my request! If a reporter in your court 
refused to vouch for the reliability of her transcript, would you vouch for it in her stead and use it 
without hesitation? Would you want your rights and obligations decided on such a transcript? 

Moreover, there is evidence, contained in the other exhibits submitted to the Conference and 
available on demand (pg. 21), that Reporter Dianetti is not acting alone. Bankruptcy clerks and Dis-
trict Judge David G. Larimer, WDNY, also violated FRBkrP 8007 to deprive me of the transcript 
and, worse still, did the same in connection with the transcript in Pfuntner v. Trustee Gordon et al., 
where Mr. DeLano, who handled its bankruptcy for M&T, and I are parties. Their motives are 
discussed in the accompanying copy of the petition and in my submissions to the Conference and 
its members of November 18 and December 18, 2004. The facts stated therein show a pattern of 
non-coincidental, intentional, and coordinated bias and wrongdoing in support of a bankruptcy fraud 
scheme. It suffices for those facts to have the appearance of truth for these officers’ conduct to 
undermine the integrity of the judicial process and detract from public trust in the judiciary. Hence, 
I respectfully request that you cause this matter to be placed on the agenda of the September 
meeting of the Conference and that meantime, you make a report of it to U.S. Attorney General 
Alberto Gonzales under 18 U.S.C. 3057(a). Looking forward to hearing from you, 

sincerely, 
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C:1120 Unsigned letter of Adm Off’s Gen Counsel Off of 8/8/5 to Dr. Cordero refusing to forward petition to J Conf 
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Letter for CA DCC Chief Judge Ginsburg of 8/8/5 that he can’t make recommendation for J. Conf. agenda C:1119 
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Dr. Cordero’s request of 8/1/5 to Chair King to retrieve petition from Adm Off and forward it to Jud Conf C:1117 

Dr. Richard Cordero 
Ph.D., University of Cambridge, England  59 Crescent Street 
M.B.A., University of Michigan Business School   Brooklyn, NY 11208‐1515 
D.E.A., La Sorbonne, Paris  tel. (718) 827‐9521; CorderoRic@yahoo.com 
 

August 6, 2005 
Chief Judge Carolyn Dineen King 
Chair of the Executive Committee of the Judicial Conference 
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit 
600 Camp Street 
New Orleans, LA 70130 
 
 
Dear Chief Judge King, 

On 1 instant, I sent you, as member of the Judicial Conference, a cover letter together 
with a copy of my petition of July 28 to the Judicial Conference for an investigation under 28 
U.S.C. §753(c) of a court reporter’s refusal to certify the reliability of her transcript and for 
designation under 28 U.S.C. §753(b) of another individual to produce the transcript. I had 
submitted the petition to the Conference by mailing 5 copies, each with all the exhibits, to the 
Administrative Office of the United States Courts. 

On August 3, I called the Administrative Office to confirm its receipt of the petition. Mr. 
Robert P. Deyling, Esq., Assistant General Counsel, acknowledged it, but again stated that he 
will not forward it to the Conference because the latter cannot intervene and I do not have a right to 
petition it. He disregarded my argument that the Conference is a governmental administrative body 
that under §753(c) has a duty to act on this matter and that I have a First Amendment right “to petition 
the Government for a redress of grievances”. That constitutional right is devoid of any meaning if 
the government systematically disregards every petition submitted to it. The correlative of that 
right is the obligation on the part of the government to respond to a petition; however, Mr. 
Deyling said that I would not receive even a reply letter. Likewise, the statutory obligation would 
be rendered meaningless if the Conference could at will disregard its mandate: 

§753 (c) The reporters shall be subject to the supervision of the 
appointing court and the Judicial Conference in the performance of 
their duties, including dealings with parties requesting transcripts. 

This is not the first time that Mr. Deyling prevents a petition of mine from reaching the 
Conference. Indeed, on November 18, 2004, I petitioned the Conference to review the denials by 
the Judicial Council of the Second Circuit of my petitions for review of my two judicial 
misconduct complaints. However, after failing even to acknowledge receipt of that petition and 
only at my instigation, Mr. Deyling sent me a letter on December 9, whereby he blocked it from 
reaching the Conference by alleging that the latter had no jurisdiction to entertain it. The 
Conference, of course, was never given the opportunity to pass on that jurisdictional issue that I 
had explicitly discussed, a novel one that it had never decided in any of its 15 decision since the 
enactment of the Judicial Conduct Act of 1980. It is troubling that the Conference allows a 
person acting in the capacity of a clerk of court, such as Mr. Deyling, to insulate it from even 
having to take a look at a citizen’s petition. It is all the more troubling when by such expedient 
the Conference does not even bother to determine the scope of its own obligations under law.  

Therefore, I also respectfully request that you, as chair of the Executive Committee, 
retrieve the five copies of my petition now in possession of Mr. Deyling, and submit the petition 
to the Conference. I would be indebted to you if you would let me know your course of action.  

Sincerely, 
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Trustee Reiber‟s Findings of Fact and Summary of 341 Hearing E:271 
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E:272 Trustee Reiber‟s Findings of Fact and Summary of 341 Hearing 
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List of reasons for filing accompanying Trustee Reiber‟s Findings of Fact and Summary of 341 Hearing E:273 
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E:274  Judge Ninfo‟s order of 8/8/5 for M&T Bank to deduct from Mr. DeLano‟s earnings and pay Trustee 
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Judge Ninfo‟s order of August 9, 2005, confirming the DeLanos‟ Chapter 13 debt repayment plan E:275 

 

rep:81



E:276 Judge Ninfo‟s order of August 9, 2005, confirming the DeLanos‟ Chapter 13 debt repayment plan 

 

rep:82



Judge Ninfo‟s order of August 9, 2005, confirming the DeLanos‟ Chapter 13 debt repayment plan E:277 
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E:278 Att. Werner‟s application of July 7, 2005, to Trustee Reiber for payment of legal fees re the DeLanos 
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Att. Werner‟s itemized invoice of June 23, 2005, for legal services rendered to the DeLanos E:279 
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E:280 Att. Werner‟s itemized invoice of June 23, 2005, for legal services rendered to the DeLanos 
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Att. Werner‟s itemized invoice of June 23, 2005, for legal services rendered to the DeLanos E:281 
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E:282 Att. Werner‟s itemized invoice of June 23, 2005, for legal services rendered to the DeLanos 
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Trustee Reiber‟s letter of December 30, 2004, on holding an examination of the DeLanos E:283 
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DeLanos‟ mortgage document: Church of the Holy Spirit of Penfield, New York E:285 
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E:286 DeLanos‟ mortgage document: Church of the Holy Spirit of Penfield, New York 
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DeLanos‟ mortgage document: Public Abstract Corporation E:287 
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E:288 DeLanos‟ mortgage document: #12,802 Abstract of Title to Part Lot #45, Township 13, Penfield 
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DeLanos‟ mortgage document: #12,802 Abstract of Title to Part Lot #45, Township 13, Penfield E:289 
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E:290 DeLanos‟ mortgage document: #33516 Abstract to Lot #9 Roman Crescent Subdivision 
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DeLanos‟ mortgage document: #33516 Abstract to Lot #9 Roman Crescent Subdivision E:291 
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E:292 DeLanos‟ mortgage document: #33516 Abstract to Lot #9 Roman Crescent Subdivision 
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DeLanos‟ mortgage document: #33516 Abstract to Lot #9 Roman Crescent Subdivision E:293 
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E:294 DeLanos‟ mortgage document: Mortgage Closing Statement April 23, 1999, Penfield 
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DeLanos‟ mortgage document: Mortgage Closing Statement April 23, 1999, Penfield E:295 
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E:296 DeLanos‟ mortgage document: U.S. HUD Optional for Transactions without Sellers 
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DeLanos‟ mortgage document: U.S. HUD Optional for Transactions without Sellers E:297 
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Dr. Richard Cordero 
Ph.D., University of Cambridge, England 59 Crescent Street 
M.B.A., University of Michigan Business School  Brooklyn, NY 11208-1515 
D.E.A., La Sorbonne, Paris tel. (718) 827-9521; CorderoRic@yahoo.com 
 
 

February 22, 2005 
 

Mr. George M. Reiber 

Chapter 13 Trustee 

South Winton Court  

3136 S. Winton Road, Suite 206 

Rochester, NY 14623 
Re: Documents produced by Att. Werner for DeLanos, dkt. no. 04-20280 

Dear Trustee Reiber, 

I received a copy of the cover letter of 16 instant that Att. Christopher Werner sent you 

together with some documents. The latter failed to answer the question that was asked at the 

adjourned 341 meeting on 1 February and that the DeLanos were supposed to answer through 

document production, namely: 

If the DeLanos obtained a mortgage loan of $32,000 from Monroe Bank in 1976; and 

another mortgage loan of $59,000 from M&T Bank in 1988 as well as another 

mortgage loan of $59,000 from ONONDAGA Bank in 1988; and yet another mortgage 

loan for $95,000 from Genesee Regional Bank, and as stated by them, they made all 

their installment payments, how is it that they end up 29 years later having a home 

equity of only $21,416 and still owe a mortgage debt of $77,084, as they declared in 

Schedule A of their petition?  

The table below presents the information discussed at the 341 meeting: 

The DeLanos‟ Mortgages 

 Source of data Account 

holder 

Lender 

 

Account 

no. 

Year loan Amount 

borrowed 
taken refinanced 

1.  DeLanos at 

341 meeting 

on 1 Feb 05 

D=David D 

Mary D=M 

Monroe Bank ? 1976 1985 $32,000 

2.  Equifax 

7/23/4/; pg 6 

M M&T Bank 7389 20 03/1988 last activity 

April 99 

$59,000 

3.  Equifax 

7/23/4/; pg 6 

M ONONDAGA 

Bank Overdraft:  

1958 8200 

02 

03/1988 last activity 

Feb 98 

$59,000 

4.  Equifax 

7/23/4;pg 6 

D Genesee 

Regional Bank 

7732 3892 

0006 0002 

April 

1999 

$70K+ still 

outstanding 

$95,000 

 

Where did all the money paid go or is? 

Far from answering this question, the documents produced only raise many more 

questions. To begin with, those documents are incomplete, just as were the documents that Att. 

Werner produced on behalf of the DeLanos on June 14, 2004. In fact, Att. Werner admits their 

incompleteness when in his cover letter he states that he has produced only “a copy of the 

relevant portion of Mr. DeLano and Mrs. DeLano’s Abstract of Title” (emphasis added). Since he 

is the one making the production and is presumed to know the best evidence rule of Rule 1002 of 

rep:105

mailto:CorderoRic@yahoo.com
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the Federal Rules of Evidence, he should know better than to try to prove anything with writings 

that not only are not the originals, but are also not complete. Consider the following: 

1. The first document in the stapled bundle is untitled and begins with “4. Church of the Holy 

Spirit of Penfield New York”. Thus, it is referred to here as the Church document. It bears the 

words “Public Abstract Corporation” printed vertically on its left margin. On a second page 

there is paragraph 6, after which there are no signatures or any other indication that that page 

is the last one of the document. One can reasonably expect that if the mortgagee wants to 

enforce this document against the mortgagors, the former would require the latter to sign it 

somewhere. What this document shows is that somebody wrote the names of the DeLanos on 

two sheets of paper. This document can hardly be complete. In addition, note that: 

a) The relation of the Church of the Holy Spirit to the mortgages referred to in paragraphs 5 

and 6 is not stated. This is particularly intriguing because paragraph 4 states that “This 

deed executes pursuant to a court order signed by Hon. Joseph G. Fritsel, Justice of the 

Supreme Court on July 15, 1975”. Why was a court involved in this transaction and what 

kind of transaction does this document bear witness to? Where is that court order and what 

are its terms? 

b) In paragraph 4 it is printed “Dated July 16, 1975”, but in the left margins of this and the 

following page it is handwritten “ona 3/10/88”. To add more confusion, in paragraph 6 it is 

printed “Dated November 30, 1977”. When was this document first and last used and what 

was it used for? 

c) Paragraph 5 states “Mortgage to secure $26,000.00 Part Purchase Price Dated July 16, 

1975”, and the other part?, that is, what is the whole of which this is a part? Was there a 

down payment and, if so, what was its amount and where did the money come from?  

d) Moreover, paragraph 6 states “Mortgage to secure $7,467.18 Dated November 30, 1977”. 

It is quite obvious that paragraphs 5 and 6 refer to two different transactions that took place 

more than two years apart. Hence, paragraph 5 refers to “Liber 4000 of Mortgages, page 

196”, while paragraph 6 refers to “Liber 4488 of Mortgages, page 152”. In addition, how 

was a mortgage amount arrived at that includes 18¢? 

e) While at the 341 meeting on February 1, Mr. DeLano stated that it was Monroe Bank that 

lent the $32,000 of the mortgage taken in 1976, paragraphs 5 and 6 of this document refers 

to Columbia Bank, Saving, and Loan Association, yet another party that had never been 

mentioned previously. So what was the role of Monroe Bank in all these transactions and 

since when? 

2. The document titled “Public Abstract Corporation” –PAC hereinafter- states at the bottom 

“over” but the back of that page is empty and its continuation is nowhere else. That document 

is incomplete too. 

a. PAC refers to “Liber 3679 of Deeds, at page 489”. This is the reference found in paragraph 

4 of the Church document, which concerns a “Warranty Deed” and involves the Church of 

the Holy Spirit. However, there is no express relationship between these two documents.  

b. This lack of relationship becomes even more pronounced upon noting that PAC was 

signed on July 16, 1975, while there is written in the margins of the Church document “ona 

3/10/88”.  
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c. PAC states at the bottom of its single page “for premises at No. 1 with Nos. 4 and 5 

added”. What are the premises at No. 1? Where are presumably paragraph “No. 1” and 

Nos. 2 and 3? 

d.  Moreover, since paragraph 6 of the Church document refers to a mortgage “Dated 

November 30, 1977” and PAC was signed on July 16, 1975, where are paragraph 6 and 

who knows what other paragraphs of the Church document as it stood all the way to its end 

on that date of 1975? What kind of mix and match of incomplete documents is this?! 

3. There is another document whose first printed line is “U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 

Development”. It is referred to here as the HUD document and appropriately enough, for how 

did HUD the institution become involved in any of these mortgages at all? That cannot be 

fathomed from this document, whose first sequential section is “L. Settlement Charges” and 

its last is “N. Net Settlement”. This document most likely forms part of something else which 

was not produced. As a matter of fact, it is titled “Optional Form for Transactions without 

Sellers”. “Optional” in what kind of standard “Transactions”? Hence, this document is 

incomplete. It is nonetheless very interesting. 

a. Indeed, the HUD document introduces yet another party that was not mentioned at the 341 

meeting, to wit, Lyndon Guaranty Bank of New York, as lender. So when and how did the 

present holder of the mortgage contract, Genesee Regional Bank, as stated in Schedule D 

of the DeLanos‟ petition, come into the picture? If Genesee was formerly known as 

Lyndon, where is the document that attests to that change of name so as to exclude that 

there was a refinancing by Genesee of a mortgage loan originally made by Lyndon? 

b. Something else comes in through the HUD document, for the box “Name & Address of 

Borrower:” is filled in thus:  
David G. DeLano  
Mary Ann DeLano  
1262 Shoecraft Road 
Webster, NY 14580 

However, the box “Property Location: (if different from above)” is filled in differently: 

David G. DeLano  
Mary Ann DeLano  
1262 Shoecraft Road 

Penfield, NY 14580 (emphasis added) 

It is reasonable to ask how the DeLanos live in Webster but the property that is the subject 

of the mortgage is located in Penfield. This brings to mind the Church document, whose 

first line is “4. Church of the Holy Spirit of Penfield New York”. 

c. The HUD document also shows a quite strange 3.75” square of white space in the middle 

of the right column. What was that space left empty for? Was it always empty? 

d. The HUD document concerns a loan for $95,000. Financial institutions, however, rarely 

make a mortgage loan for 100% of the value of the property that secures it; rather, they 

make it for less, and depending on the credit rating of the borrower and other debts, even 

for considerably less. Given the deplorable credit history of the DeLanos as portrayed by 

each of the credit bureau reports already produced, at what value was this property located 

in Penfield appraised for this “Settlement” dated “April 23, 1999”? 
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e. In this vein, what was being „settled‟ by this HUD document? 

f. Neither the HUD document nor the other documents make any reference to the loan of 

$59,000 from ONONDAGA Bank.  

 

The above analysis should suffice to show that the documents produced are incomplete. 

Why their production was made thus needs to be investigated and determined. Obviously, the 

DeLanos must produce the missing parts; but this time not just as photocopies of what Att. 

Werner considers “relevant”. Rather, the whole originals of the documents bearing on mortgages 

on, and title to, any and all of their real property must be produced and then we make the copies. 

The other two documents in the stapled bundle, one by Colony Abstract Corporation 

consisting of two pages and the other by Four Corners Abstract Corporation with four pages; and 

the single loose page document titled “Mortgage Closing Statement” raise many more questions. 

However, the evidence shows that you are neither willing nor able to find the answer to them. 

The fact is that for weeks you pretended to be investigating the DeLanos while, as it 

turned out undisputedly, you were not and first asked for documents by your letter of April 20, 

2004, sent at my instigation. You allowed the DeLanos not to produce any documents for months 

and then conveniently moved to dismiss on June 15, 2004. You have refused to subpoena any 

documents and have even claimed that you do not know whether you have power to subpoena. 

When the DeLanos untimely moved to disallow my claim in a transparent attempt to eliminate 

me from the case, you gave your tacit approval, for handling this case would be so much easier 

for you too if I were not around requesting that you investigate it, as you are required to do and I 

am entitled to request that you do under 11 U.S.C. §§704(4) and (7).  

When Judge John C. Ninfo, II, suspended every other court proceeding in the case until 

the DeLanos‟ motion to disallow is determined and all its appeals are resolved, you pretended to 

have been thereby forbidden to conduct the adjourned 341 meeting. It took me a lot of effort, 

time, and money to appeal to all your superiors to get you to agree to hold it; yet you wanted to 

limit it to one hour, thus disregarding the series of meetings implied by §341. Nor did you object 

to Judge Ninfo‟s court proceedings suspension, although it not only lacks any basis in law, but 

also redounds to the detriment of each and all the other 20 creditors in this case, whose interests 

you are supposed to represent. Were you true to your duty to them, you would be advocating for 

me to remain on the case because through my efforts the other creditors stand the chance of 

being paid 100% of their claims if assets concealed by the DeLanos are found, while without me 

the creditors will at best get the meager 22¢ on the dollar that the DeLanos propose to pay under 

their debt repayment plan, with which you are satisfied, for a saving to them of $144,660 plus all 

the interest that will not accrue and that they will not have to pay. On whose side are you? 

That question is warranted by your attitude at the 341 meeting. There the DeLanos were 

supposed to be examined by answering the questions of the creditors. Instead, you allowed Att. 

Werner to force himself to be heard as much as both of the DeLanos, although neither he nor you 

could provide any basis in law for such conduct, let alone for his micromanaging the meeting 

under the threat of walking out of it together with the DeLanos if I did not limit myself to 

shooting questions at the pace he wanted. Nonetheless, you must know, as certainly as Att. 

Werner does, that a 341 meeting is neither a deposition nor a court proceeding subject to the 

Federal Rules applicable to an examination in court, nor is it a “341 Hearing”, as he mistakenly 

but revealingly calls it in his February 16 letter.  
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In fact, creditors are mostly lay people that know little and are not required to know 

anything about the Federal Rules to attend and participate in such a meeting. They are there just 

to ask questions as they would in any other setting, except that they are legally entitled to distrust 

the debtors and treat them as if they had committed fraud. As for you, who are supposed to work 

“for the benefit of general unsecured creditors whom the trustee represents”, as stated under 

§704 and its Legislative Report, you were required to adopt that inquisitorial attitude toward the 

debtors, as is unequivocally provided under §343 in its Statutory Note thus: 

The purpose of the examination is to enable creditors and the 
trustee to determine if assets have improperly been disposed of 
or concealed or if there are grounds for objection to discharge. 
(emphasis added) 

Far from adopting that legally required attitude, you once more allowed Att. Werner to 

refuse to produce any documents to account for the scores of thousands of dollars that the 

DeLanos have charged since “1990 and prior card purchases”, a phrase that they used 15 times 

in their Schedule F. Incidentally, the word “purchase” is normally used when one buys goods 

rather than when one pays for services. Since the DeLanos stated that they have not taken a 

vacation in two years and anyway do not go on expensive vacations or eat out expensively, it is 

all the more pertinent to ask what goods they bought and where they are. It sounds like a 

question that stands to reason. They can answer it by producing their credit card statements for 

the period that they themselves put in play. But you refused my request that they produce them. 

Nor is your curiosity as a trustee that must look for „improperly disposed of or concealed 

assets‟ any better. It is not piqued by even the fact that for over 15 years the DeLanos have made 

such credit card purchases without restraint and accumulated a credit card debt of a whopping 

$98,092, but at the end of their two worklives, including Mr. DeLano‟s 32 years as a bank officer 

and, as stated in Schedule I, currently as a loan officer at M&T Bank, who as such is an expert in 

managing borrowed money, they claimed in Schedule B that their household goods are worth 

just $2,910! That claim defies common sense and should have intrigued you enough to investi-

gate. It is even ludicrous given that the DeLanos earned more than 100 times that amount in just 

three years, that is, $291,470 in the 2001-03 fiscal years, according to their petition and the 1040 

IRS forms that they produced. Nonetheless, you would not ask them to produce checking and 

savings account statements of even those recent years to determine their earnings‟ whereabouts. 

You refused my request although today many banks make account statements for the last few 

years available online and some even accompany them with the images of the cancelled checks, 

so that it would have been quite easy for the DeLanos to produce and for you to obtain them, not 

to mention that they have an obligation to keep the statements that they have received. 

What is more, you allowed Att. Werner to say repeatedly at the meeting that if I want any 

such documents, I have to subpoena them myself. However, it is patently obvious that since the 

DeLanos are petitioning to be permitted to escape having to pay all their debts to the detriment of 

the creditors, it is their obligation, not the creditors‟, to prove that they deserve that permission 

because their claims in the petition are true and supportive of bankruptcy relief. In addition, it is 

not my legal responsibility to conduct any investigation of the debtors. It is yours. And how 

could you have failed to take issue with Att. Werner‟s admission that he destroyed documents 

that the DeLanos provided him for the preparation of their petition? That is a felony so serious 

that under 18 U.S.C. §1519 it carries a maximum sentence of 20 years in prison! Is it because he 

destroyed documents that he cannot produce them now? 
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Likewise, you accepted uncritically the testimony of the DeLanos at the 341 meeting that 

at present they have only one credit card, namely, the one issued by First Premier Bank that Mr. 

DeLano uses every three months to pay for his medication, whereas Mrs. DeLano has none at all. 

However, for more than 15 years they have had scores of credit cards and have used them in a 

skip and pay pattern so that they have failed to make their minimum payments a staggering 279 

times at least. It is highly unlikely that people like them would all of a sudden give up their habit 

of using credit cards as means of payment, let alone that Mrs. DeLano now pays cash for all her 

expenses. The implausibility of those statements is corroborated by the facts: The last credit 

bureau reports requested on July 23 and 26, 2004, show that as of that very month the DeLanos 

made payments on more than one credit card.  

Credit Cards on Which the DeLanos Made Payments Between Just January and July 2004 

 Credit 

reporting 

agency  

Date of 

report 

Person 

reported 

on 

Credit card issuer Credit card 

account no. 

Date of last payment 

& amount if stated in 

the report 

1.  Equifax July 23, 04 David D.=D Capital One 4388 6413 4765* January 2004 

2.     Capital One Bank 4862 3621 5719* February 2004 

3.    D Genesee Regional Bank  June 2004 

4.  Equifax July 23,04 Mary D.=M Capital One 4862 3622 6671* February 2004 

5.  Experian July 26, 04 D Bank of Ohio 4266 8699 5018 May 2004: $197 

6.    D Bk I TX 4712 0207 0151… May 2004: $205 

7.    D Fleet M/C 5487 8900 2018… May 2004: $172 

8.    D HSBC Bank USA 5215 3170 0105… February 04: $160 

9.    D MBGA/JC Penney 80246… July 2004: $57 

10.    D First Premier Bank 4610 0780 0310… July 2004: $48 

11.  Experian July 26, 04 M Fleet M/C 5487 8900 2018… May 2004: $172 

12.    M MBGA/JC Penney 80246… July 2004: $57 

13.  TransUnion July 26, 04 M JC Penney/MBGA 1069 9076 5 July 2004 

 

Given that the stay that became effective upon the DeLanos filing their petition in 

January 2004, barred the credit card issuers from undertaking collection efforts, there would be 

no reason for the DeLanos to pay old charges. They must have made those payments to their 

credit cards to keep them current so that they can continue using them. 

Now Att. Werner submits these documents, though 1) incomplete due to his self-serving 

determination of their relevancy; 2) incapable of explaining the flow of mortgages over the years 

and their sediment of equity in the DeLanos‟ home; and 3) at odds with information provided by 

the DeLanos previously. He too should have known better than to submit them, for according to 

his own statement at the hearing on July 19, 2004, he „has been in this business for 28 years‟. By 

the same token, he should know that he is subject to the constraints of FRBkrP Rule 9011(b) and 

to the NY Code of Professional Responsibility: Canons and Disciplinary Rules, in particular DR 

7-102, all the time. 
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So what could possibly have led Att. Werner to think that these documents would pass 

muster with you, Trustee Reiber? Did he know that you just humored me at the 341 meeting on 

February 1, but that in the end you would not make on him any requirement other than what 

could be met with this pretense of a document production? Is he aware that you have a conflict of 

interests, for on March 8, 2004, you vouched in open court for the good faith of the DeLanos‟ 

petition before you ever requested them any supporting document, and now you would 

incriminate yourself if you were to conduct a proper investigation that demonstrated that the 

DeLanos have committed fraud, particularly concealment of assets, and that you could have 

suspected that if only you had read critically their petition, let alone requested of them proof for 

their implausible and intriguing claims? 

If you can assess the character and determination of a person, you must know that, if you 

do not, I will find evidence for my assertions. It will indict your competency and due diligence, 

to begin with. This is the moment for you to cut your losses; otherwise, you will dig yourself into a 

deeper hole from which you will be unable to come out. Therefore, I respectfully request that you: 

1. recuse yourself from this case so that an independent trustee, unrelated to the parties, unfamil-

iar with the case, unhampered by any conflict of interest, and capable of conducting a zealous, 

competent, and expeditious investigation of the DeLanos be appointed; if you refuse to do so,  

2. hire under 11 U.S.C. §327 a highly reputed title search, appraisal, and accounting firm(s) that 

are unrelated to the parties and with whom neither you nor your attorney, James Weidman, 

Esq., have ever worked, to investigate the DeLanos‟ mortgages and real and personal property 

in order to a) establish a chronologically unbroken title to any such property; b) determine 

the value of their equity and outstanding debts; and c) follow the money!, from the point of its 

being earned by each of the DeLanos since “1990 and prior credit card purchases” to date; 

3. use your power of subpoena, cf. F.R.Bkr.P. Rules 9016 and 2004(a) and (c), and F.R.Civ.P. 

Rule 45, to subpoena from the respective institutions the following documents: 

a. current reports from each of the three credit reporting bureaus, namely, Equifax, 

Experian, and TransUnion; and 

b. the monthly statements of the DeLano‟s checking, savings, and debit card accounts, their 

current balances, and copies of their cancelled checks; 

4. request that the DeLanos: 

a. produce a list of their checking, savings, and debit card accounts since „1990 and prior 

years‟ to date, the period that they put in play in Schedule F; 

b. state the name of the appraiser that appraised their home in November 2003, and his or 

her address and phone number; 

c. attend a 341 meeting in the afternoon of Monday, February 28, or the morning of March 

1, where they must produce the originals of all the title and mortgage documents that they 

have and answer questions about those that Att. Werner produced. Please note that the 

evidentiary hearing on the motion to disallow is scheduled for March 1, at 1:30 p.m. 

I would appreciate it if you would call me as soon as possible to discuss this letter and let 

me know where you stand on the issues raised here and the requests that I have made. 

Sincerely, 
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Dr. Richard Cordero 
Ph.D., University of Cambridge, England 59 Crescent Street 
M.B.A., University of Michigan Business School  Brooklyn, NY 11208-1515 
D.E.A., La Sorbonne, Paris tel. (718) 827-9521; CorderoRic@yahoo.com 

 

 

 

 

March 19, 2005 

 

 

Christopher K. Werner, Esq. 

Boylan, Brown, Code, Vigdor & Wilson, LLP 

2400 Chase Square 

Rochester, NY 14604  
 Re: David and Mary Ann DeLano, Bkr. dkt. no. 04-20280 

 

Dear Mr. Werner, 

I have received a copy of your letter to Trustee George Reiber of 10 instant. However, I 

did not receive the enclosures. I trust you remember what Trustee Reiber told you in his letter to 

you of June 16, 2004: 

I notice that you did not copy Dr. Cordero in on your correspondence. I 
will be forwarding him copies of everything you have sent me. In the 
future, please make sure Dr. Cordero is copied on everything. I do not 
intend to be a conduit for information being passed between parties in 
interest.  

It is appropriate to note that: 

1) you refused for months to provide the Trustee and me any documents concerning the 

DeLanos, so much so that he moved to dismiss “for unreasonable delay”;  

2) subsequently, you failed to produce all the documents requested by Trustee Reiber, as 

I showed in Table 1 of my letter to you of September 29, 2004;  

3) you also failed to produce the documents that I requested from you pursuant to his 

letter to both of us of March 12, 2004; and  

4) you refused to provide me with even a single document that I requested to defend 

against your motion to disallow my claim against Mr. DeLano.  

Do you think that an objective observer informed of all the facts may find it reasonable to 

be concerned that you may still be reluctant and even fail to provide me with a copy of all the 

documents that you or the DeLanos have or that you send to the Trustee? 

In this vein, it is appropriate to ask you whether you think that an impartial trier of facts 

may deem your failure to copy me in on enclosures to the Trustee despite his express instruction for 

you to do so as evidence that you might not copy your clients on correspondence that I send you.  

Therefore, I respectfully request that you send me a list of all the documents that you 

have sent to Trustee Reiber in connection with his request at the examination of the DeLanos on 

February 1, including those referred to in the above-mentioned letter to him of March 10, and 

that you also send me a copy of all such documents themselves. 

Sincerely, 
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Dr. Richard Cordero 
Ph.D., University of Cambridge, England 59 Crescent Street 
M.B.A., University of Michigan Business School  Brooklyn, NY 11208-1515 
D.E.A., La Sorbonne, Paris tel. (718) 827-9521; CorderoRic@yahoo.com 

 

 

March 29, 2005 
 

Trustee George M. Reiber 

South Winton Court faxed to 585-427-7804 

3136 S. Winton Road, Suite 206 

Rochester, NY 14623 
 

Re: David and Mary Ann DeLano, Bkr. dkt. no. 04-20280 

Dear Trustee Reiber, 

I received a copy of the letter that Christopher Werner, Esq., sent you on 10 instant. 

However, he failed to send me the enclosures. So I wrote to him on March 19 and let him know 

that by not sending them to me, he had disregarded what you had told him in your letter to him 

of June 16, 2004: 

I notice that you did not copy Dr. Cordero in on your 
correspondence. I will be forwarding him copies of everything you 
have sent me. In the future, please make sure Dr. Cordero is 
copied on everything. I do not intend to be a conduit for 
information being passed between parties in interest.  

Now I have received a letter from him, dated March 24, containing 14 printouts of 

screenshots of index pages on the website of the Monroe County Clerk‟s Office, of which I am 

sending you a copy. I can only assume that they represent a copy of everything in the enclosures 

that he sent you. But even Att. Werner can realize that they have neither beginning nor ending 

dates of a transaction, nor transaction amounts, nor property location, nor current status, nor 

reference to the involvement in the mortgage of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 

Development (HUD), etc. They are useless to prove anything!  

Mr. Werner may have realized it, which would explain why he wrote in his letter to you:  

I have not reviewed the actual documents themselves, but only 
the electronic records index with the County Clerk.  

That statement does not secure for Att. Werner plausible deniability. What he did send 

show that those documents are objectively incapable of providing the information that you 

requested from him. Indeed, in your letter of last February 24 you wrote to him thus: 

Thank you for sending me the Abstract information regarding the 
debtors’ property. I note that the 1988 mortgage to Columbia, 
which later ended up with the government, is not discharged of 
record or mentioned in any way, shape or form concerning a 
payoff. What ever happened to that mortgage? According to the 
Schedules, the only mortgage in existence is the Lyndon 
mortgage. Thank you for your cooperation and consideration. 

In light of your concerns thus expressed, how could Att. Werner think that by not 

checking the documents and instead sending useless screenshots he was making a reasonably 

calculated effort to provide the necessary information to put your concerns to rest? Did he expect 

you to do his homework for him by going to the County Clerk‟s website to look for “the actual 

documents themselves” and determine whether they contained the information concerning the 

mortgage to Columbia and HUD‟s involvement? 
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Hence, it is most intriguing that you did not protest to Att. Werner for having sent you those 

useless screenshots. Did you even look at the documents that he sent you? Did you ever intend to 

look at them when you expressed your concerns about the DeLanos‟ mortgages? The foundation 

for these questions is that 1) only after I faxed to you my letter of February 22 where I pointed 

out the insufficiency of the documents that Att. Werner had produced with his letter of February 

16 did you write to him to express those concerns on February 24; 2) only after I stated my 

objections of March 4, 2004, to the confirmation of the DeLanos‟ debt repayment plan and had 

to keep insisting on the basis of 11 U.S.C. §704(4) and (7) that you obtain supporting documents 

from them did you ask Att. Werner for any documents whatsoever in your letter of April 20, 

months after they had filed their petition of January 26, 2004; 3) only after I had to appeal all the 

way to the Trustees‟ Office in Washington, D.C; to exercise my right to examine the DeLanos 

did you give up your refusal to hold such examination; etc. There is a pattern here: Only if I keep 

pushing you to obtain information do you ask for it. Would it appear to a reasonable person 

informed of all the circumstances that you rubberstamped the DeLanos‟ petition and now are 

asking for documents just to humor me but with no intention to find out what their financial 

situation is? Are you wasting my effort, time, and money by dragging me through a charade? 

These circumstances beg the question whether Att. Werner sent you but not me those 

documents on March 10 because he expected you not to look at them, let alone notice their 

uselessness, while he knew that I would. This is supported by the fact that it was I who raised the 

question about mortgages at the examination of the DeLanos on February 1, 2005, in your office. 

Then you asked for documents from them and Att. Werner. Mr. DeLano stated that he had those 

documents at home. You gave them two weeks to produce them. So why do they take two 

months not to produce them? Why did they send you useless screenshots when they could have 

sent you copies of the documents that Mr. DeLano admitted he had at home? The answer is that 

this is part of their pattern of refusal to produce documents and so much so that months after you 

requested, at my instigation, documents from them and received none, you moved for dismissal 

on June 15, 2004, for “unreasonable delay”.  

By now it should be obvious to you too that the delay is not just unreasonable, it is 

intentional. If the DeLanos were in real financial difficulty so as to justify their filing for 

bankruptcy and they could establish the good faith of their petition by producing documents that 

they even admit having at home, it would be irrational for them to be throwing away thousands 

of dollars in legal fees to have Att. Werner for more than a year withhold those documents and 

others that you have requested, not to mention all those that I have requested. Their conduct, 

however, is rational if those documents are so incriminating that out of self-preservation they 

feel they must conceal them. In so doing, they are only managing to violate time and again the 

provision at 18 U.S.C §152(8) on „the concealment or destruction of documents in contemplation 

of or after filing a bankruptcy petition and relating to the financial affairs of the debtor‟.  

Just as the DeLanos have chosen to keep compounding their initial fraud in what they 

chose to state in their petition rather than cut their losses by admitting what they did and bargain 

for a plea, you, Trustee Reiber, must choose your stance toward the indisputable fact of their 

concealment of documents. Therefore, I ask once more the same question that I asked at the 

examination last February: 

If the DeLanos obtained a mortgage loan of $32,000 from Monroe Bank in 1976; and 

another mortgage loan of $59,000 from M&T Bank in 1988 as well as another 

mortgage loan of $59,000 from ONONDAGA Bank in 1988; and yet another mortgage 
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loan for $95,000 from Genesee Regional Bank, and as stated by them, they made all 

their installment payments, how is it that they end up 29 years later having a home 

equity of only $21,416 and still owe a mortgage debt of $77,084, as they declared in 

Schedule A of their petition?  

The answer is in the documents that they are so intent on not producing. However, the 

answering documents are not just those relating to mortgages, but also those that show the 

whereabouts of the money that the DeLanos have earned for so many years, including the 

$291,470 in the 2001-03 fiscal years alone, and that today should be reflected in their all but 

100% equity in their home at 1262 Shoecraft Road in Webster. If in the 29 years since their 1976 

mortgage they have barely managed to acquire ownership of one fifth of their home appraised at 

$98,500 in November 2003, what else have they instead managed to acquire? 

Therefore, I respectfully request that you: 

5. hire under 11 U.S.C. §327 a highly reputed title search, appraisal, and accounting firm(s) that 

is unrelated to the parties and with which neither you nor your attorney, James Weidman, 

Esq., have ever worked, to investigate the DeLanos‟ mortgages and real and personal property 

in order to a) establish a chronologically unbroken title to any such property; b) determine 

the value of their equity and outstanding debts; and c) follow the money!, from the point of 

its being earned by each of the DeLanos since “1990 and prior credit card purchases” -the 

period that they put in play 15 times in Schedule F- to date; 

6. request that the DeLanos: 

a. produce a list of their checking, savings, and debit card accounts since „1990 and prior 

years‟ to date; and 

b. state the name of the appraiser that appraised their home in November 2003, and his or 

her address and phone number; 

7. use your power of subpoena, cf. F.R.Bkr.P. Rules 9016 and 2004(a) and (c), and F.R.Civ.P. 

Rule 45, to subpoena from the respective institutions the following documents: 

a. the monthly statements of the DeLano‟s checking, savings, and debit card accounts, their 

current balances, and copies of their cancelled checks; and 

b. current reports from each of the three credit reporting bureaus, namely, Equifax, 

Experian, and TransUnion;  

8. if you are not willing or able not just to ask for, but also obtain the necessary documents, 

including those already requested but still not produced, recuse yourself from this case so that 

an independent trustee, unrelated to the parties, unfamiliar with the case, unhampered by any 

conflict of interest, and capable of conducting a zealous, competent, and expeditious 

investigation of the DeLanos be appointed; and 

9. send me copies of documents that Att. Werner may send you, without prejudice to his 

obligation to send them directly to me. 

I look forward to receiving a written response from you at your earliest convenience. 

Sincerely, 
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Dr. Richard Cordero 
Ph.D., University of Cambridge, England 59 Crescent Street 
M.B.A., University of Michigan Business School  Brooklyn, NY 11208-1515 
D.E.A., La Sorbonne, Paris tel. (718) 827-9521; CorderoRic@yahoo.com 

 

April 19, 2005 
 

Ms. Deirdre A. Martini 

U.S. Trustee for Region 2  

Office of the United States Trustee faxed to (212) 668-2255 

55 Whitehall Street, 21
st
 Floor 

New York, NY 10004 

 

Re: David and Mary Ann DeLano, Bkr. dkt. no. 04-20280 

Dear Trustee Martini, 
 

Please find herewith a copy of my Designation of Items and a Statement of Issues relating 

to my appeal to the District Court from Judge Ninfo‟s decision of 4 instant in the DeLano case. 

Through the appellate process I will argue the suspicious circumstance that neither Judge Ninfo, 

Trustee Reiber, nor Trustee Schmitt wants to investigate Mr. David DeLano, a 32 year veteran of 

the banking industry and currently a loan officer who files for bankruptcy after earning together 

with his wife in just the 2001-03 fiscal years $291,470, whose whereabouts nobody wants to find 

out. Must Mr. DeLano be protected lest he talk about compromising bankruptcy goings-on?  

Now there is the issue of the DeLanos‟ mortgages, about which Trustee Reiber appears 

not to want to learn too much. Indeed, at the examination of the DeLanos, which took place only 

after overcoming the Trustee‟s opposition, I raised the following question: 

If the DeLanos obtained a mortgage loan of $32,000 from Monroe Bank in 
1976; and another mortgage loan of $59,000 from M&T Bank in 1988 as well 
as another mortgage loan of $59,000 from ONONDAGA Bank in 1988; and 
yet another mortgage loan for $95,000 from Genesee Regional Bank, and as 
stated by them, they made all their installment payments, how is it that they 
end up 29 years later having a home equity of only $21,416 and still owe a 
mortgage debt of $77,084, as they declared in Schedule A of their petition?  

Only at my instigation did Trustee Reiber ask for clarification after the DeLanos‟ attorney 

provided incomplete mortgage information. His response was even more unsatisfactory: printouts 

of 14 screenshots of index pages on the website of the Monroe County Clerk‟s Office that have 

neither beginning nor ending dates of a transaction, nor transaction amounts, nor property location, 

nor current status, nor an explanation for HUD‟s involvement in the mortgage, etc.  

Despite my request, the Trustee has not commented on such useless documents, which I faxed 

to you on March 29. I am still entitled to an answer from him for the same reasons that he held the 

examination of the DeLanos last February although I was the only one to ask for and attend it: 

because I am a party in interest. Whatever Judge Ninfo determined as to my status as a creditor, 

which I am contesting on appeal, and as to my future participation in court proceedings, it does 

not affect how he, or for that matter you, as an officer of the Executive, not the Judicial, Branch, 

should treat me. Moreover, if a member of the public submitted to you evidence of bankruptcy 

fraud in a case in which he was not even a party in interest, you would still have to investigate it 

or have it investigated under 18 U.S.C. §3057(a). Not to do so would aid and abet fraud.  

Thus, I respectfully request that you replace Trustee Reiber by a trustee capable of investi-

gating this matter or report it under §3057 to the DoJ in Washington, not Rochester or Buffalo. 

Please let me know what you intend to do. 

Sincerely,  
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Dr. Richard Cordero 
Ph.D., University of Cambridge, England 59 Crescent Street 
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April 21, 2005 
 

Kathleen Dunivin Schmitt, Esq. 

Assistant U.S. Trustee faxed to (585) 2635862 

Federal Office Building 

100 State Street, Room 6090 

Rochester, NY 14614 

Re: §341 examination of the DeLanos, dkt. no. 04-20280 

Dear Trustee Schmitt, 

I have not received your answer to my request in my letters to you of March 1, 10, and 21 

that you state your position on my letter to Trustee Reiber of February 22. It is quite suspicious 

that neither you, Trustee Reiber, nor Judge Ninfo want to investigate Mr. David DeLano, a 32 

year veteran of the banking industry and currently a bank loan officer who files for bankruptcy 

after earning together with his wife in just the 2001-03 fiscal years $291,470, whose whereabouts 

nobody wants to find out. Must Mr. DeLano be protected lest he talk about compromising 

bankruptcy goings-on?  

Now there is the issue of the DeLanos‟ mortgages, about which Trustee Reiber appears 

not to want to learn too much. Indeed, at the examination of the DeLanos, which took place only 

after overcoming Trustee Reiber‟s opposition, I raised the following question: 

If the DeLanos obtained a mortgage loan of $32,000 from Monroe Bank in 
1976; and another mortgage loan of $59,000 from M&T Bank in 1988 as well 
as another mortgage loan of $59,000 from ONONDAGA Bank in 1988; and 
yet another mortgage loan for $95,000 from Genesee Regional Bank, and as 
stated by them, they made all their installment payments, how is it that they 
end up 29 years later having a home equity of only $21,416 and still owe a 
mortgage debt of $77,084, as they declared in Schedule A of their petition?  

Only at my instigation did Trustee Reiber ask for clarification after the DeLanos‟ attorney 

provided incomplete mortgage information. His response was even more unsatisfactory: printouts 

of 14 screenshots of index pages on the website of the Monroe County Clerk‟s Office that have 

neither beginning nor ending dates of a transaction, nor transaction amounts, nor property loca-

tion, nor current status, nor an explanation for HUD‟s involvement in the mortgage, etc. 

Despite my request, the Trustee has not commented on such useless documents, which I faxed 

to you on March 29. I am still entitled to an answer from him for the same reasons that he held the 

examination of the DeLanos last February although I was the only one to ask for and attend it: 

because I am a party in interest. Whatever Judge Ninfo determined as to my status as a creditor, 

which I am contesting on appeal, and as to my future participation in court proceedings, it does 

not affect how he, or for that matter you, as an officer of the Executive, not the Judicial, Branch, 

should treat me. Moreover, if a member of the public submitted to you evidence of bankruptcy 

fraud in a case in which he was not even a party in interest, you would still have to investigate it 

or have it investigated under 18 U.S.C. §3057(a). Not to do so would aid and abet fraud.  

Hence, I respectfully request that you replace Trustee Reiber by a trustee capable of investi-

gating this matter or report it under §3057 to the DoJ in Washington. Please do reply to this letter. 

Sincerely, 
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Dr. Richard Cordero 
Ph.D., University of Cambridge, England 59 Crescent Street 
M.B.A., University of Michigan Business School  Brooklyn, NY 11208-1515 
D.E.A., La Sorbonne, Paris tel. (718) 827-9521; CorderoRic@yahoo.com 

 

April 21, 2005 
 

Trustee George M. Reiber 

South Winton Court faxed to 585-427-7804 

3136 S. Winton Road, Suite 206 

Rochester, NY 14623 
 

Re: David and Mary Ann DeLano, Bkr. dkt. no. 04-20280 

Dear Trustee Reiber, 

Please find herewith a copy of my Designation of Items and a Statement of Issues relating 

to my appeal to the District Court from Judge Ninfo‟s decision of 4 instant in the DeLano case. 

By contrast, I have not received your response to my letter of March 29, where I 

requested that you comment on the submission to you at your request by Att. Werner of 

information about the DeLanos‟ mortgages. What he submitted with his letter of March 24 

consisted of printouts of 14 screenshots of index pages on the website of the Monroe County 

Clerk‟s Office. If you are satisfied with his submission, I would like to know why, for those 

index pages, as I pointed out, have neither beginning nor ending dates of a transaction, nor trans-

action amounts, nor property location, nor current status, nor an explanation for HUD‟s 

involvement in the mortgage, etc. If, on the contrary, you are not satisfied, I would also like to 

know why and what you intend to do about securing the information that you requested when in 

your February 24 letter you asked him thus: 

Thank you for sending me the Abstract information regarding the debtors’ 
property. I note that the 1988 mortgage to Columbia, which later ended up 
with the government, is not discharged of record or mentioned in any way, 
shape or form concerning a payoff. What ever happened to that mortgage? 
According to the Schedules, the only mortgage in existence is the Lyndon 
mortgage. Thank you for your cooperation and consideration. 

I am still entitled to an answer from you for the same reasons that you held the examina-

tion of the DeLanos last February although I was the only one to ask for and attend it: because I 

am a party in interest. Whatever Judge Ninfo determined as to my status as a creditor, which I 

am contesting on appeal, and as to my future participation in court proceedings, it does not affect 

how you, as an officer working on behalf of the Executive, not the Judicial, Branch, should treat 

me. Moreover, if a member of the public submitted to you evidence of bankruptcy fraud in a case 

in which he was not even a party in interest, you would still have to investigate it or have it 

investigated under 18 U.S.C. §3057. Not to do so would aid and abet fraud. In the DeLanos‟ 

case, there is evidence of their fraud, beginning with the $291,470 that they earned in just the 

2001-03 fiscal years and whose whereabouts nobody knows, particularly since you have refused 

to ask them for documents, such as bank account statements, that could show where that money is. 

In addition, you have the question of their mortgages, which remains unanswered and as 

relevant to the issue of their concealment of assets, on which Judge Ninfo‟s decision has no 

bearing whatsoever, as it was when I asked it at the examination last February 1, to wit: 

If the DeLanos obtained a mortgage loan of $32,000 from Monroe Bank in 1976; and 

another mortgage loan of $59,000 from M&T Bank in 1988 as well as another 

mortgage loan of $59,000 from ONONDAGA Bank in 1988; and yet another mortgage 

loan for $95,000 from Genesee Regional Bank, and as stated by them, they made all 
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their installment payments, how is it that they end up 29 years later having a home 

equity of only $21,416 and still owe a mortgage debt of $77,084, as they declared in 

Schedule A of their petition?  

The facts contained in that question, which the DeLanos admitted at their February 1 

examination or provided in their bankruptcy petition, and the fact that they have obstructed 

finding its answer by refusing to produce documents, so much so that you moved to dismiss their 

case, constitute credible evidence for the belief that they have committed bankruptcy fraud. That 

belief is strengthened by the fact that in the 29 years since their 1976 mortgage they have barely 

managed to acquire ownership of one fifth of their home appraised at $98,500 in November 

2003. So where have they put the hundreds of thousands of dollars that they have earned since?, 

a most pertinent question because at their examination they stated that they have lived a modest 

life, have not taken expensive vacations, eaten at fancy restaurants, or made luxury purchases. 

Therefore, I respectfully request that you: 

1. hire under 11 U.S.C. §327 a highly reputed title search, appraisal, and accounting firm(s) that 

is unrelated to the parties and with which neither you nor your attorney, James Weidman, 

Esq., have ever worked, to investigate the DeLanos‟ mortgages and real and personal property 

in order to a) establish a chronologically unbroken title to any such property; b) determine 

the value of their equity and outstanding debts; and c) follow the money!, from the point of its 

being earned by each of the DeLanos since “1990 and prior credit card purchases” -the period 

that they put in play 15 times in Schedule F- to date; 

2. request that the DeLanos: 

a. produce a list of their checking, savings, and debit card accounts since „1990 and prior 

years‟ to date; and 

b. state the name of the appraiser that appraised their home in November 2003, and his or 

her address and phone number; 

3. use your power of subpoena, cf. F.R.Bkr.P. Rules 9016 and 2004(a) and (c), and F.R.Civ.P. 

Rule 45, to subpoena from the respective institutions the following documents: 

a. the monthly statements of the DeLano‟s checking, savings, and debit card accounts, 

their current balances, and copies of their cancelled checks; and 

b. current reports from each of the three credit reporting bureaus, namely, Equifax, 

Experian, and TransUnion;  

4. if you are not willing or able not just to ask for, but also obtain the necessary documents, 

including those already requested but still not produced, recuse yourself from this case so that 

an independent trustee, unrelated to the parties, unfamiliar with the case, unhampered by any 

conflict of interest, and capable of conducting a zealous, competent, and expeditious 

investigation of the DeLanos be appointed; and 

5. send me copies of documents that Att. Werner may send you, without prejudice to his 

obligation to send them directly to me. 

I look forward to receiving a written response from you at your earliest convenience. 

Sincerely, 
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